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INTRODUCTION
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Southern California looms large in American
culture as a land of sun and surf, but the region
possesses a significant military presence as well.
The importance of the Pacific coastline as a mar-
itime gateway connecting the United States, Lat-
in America, and Asia has made it an attractive
outpost for trade and travel from the Spanish
colonial era to the present day. An oft-contested
terrain, Southern California changed hands no
fewer than three times in the century preceding
California’s statechood. Since entering the Union,
the region’s mild climate and littoral perch, lo-
cated as it is at a crossroads for both north-south
and cast-west hemispheres, has played a key role
in U.S. military training and deployment, partic-
ularly for the U.S. Marine Corps.
Approximately 50 miles north of San Di-
ego, the historic Rancho Santa Margarita y Las

Flores (now known as the Santa Margarita Ranch

House National Historic Site and Las Flores
Adobe National Historic Landmark) has borne
witness to the sweeping and often dramatic
events that produced Marine Corps Base Camp
Pendleton and the modern Marine Corps on the
West Coast. Soon after the purchase of the ex-
pansive ranch land in 1942, Marines established
a permanent training installation and returned to
Southern California as part of the largest nation-
al mobilization effort for war since World War 1.
Nearby, the Santa Margarita Ranch House would
serve as a primary residence for Marine Corps
commanders for the next 60 years.

The immense construction efforts that trans-
formed the sprawling ranch into one of the
largest military installations on the West Coast
included the Marine Division Command Post
(designated by the U.S. Marine Corps as Build-
ing 1133). Modest both in design and scale, this

| 1]



Oil painting of the Santa Margarita Ranch House by artist James Walker (1818—89), ca. 1885.

The Bancroft Library, University of California Berkeley

administrative building stands as a hallmark of
civilian-military collaboration and wartime ex-
pediency in construction methods and materials.
Today, it remains one of the few relatively unal-
tered temporary structures from that historical
moment. Significantly, it also continues to oper-
ate as command headquarters for the 1st Marine
Division.

The role of Camp Pendleton was essential
to the development of an expeditionary Marine
Corps both during and after the Second World
War. Over the course of seven decades, the Ma-
rines assigned to the West Coast facility have
demonstrated tremendous mobility and com-

bat efficiency as the nation’s foremost “force in

2 e INTRODUCTION

The 1st Marine Division Headquarters building was one of the
first structures to be completed at the new military base.

Photo by the author
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Main Gate at Marine Corps Base Camp Pendleton, ca. 1950.
Official U.S. Marine Corps photo

readiness.” As the primary installation for train-
ing Marines for the Pacific theater during World
War II, Camp Pendleton quickly expanded to ac-
commodate the influx of recruits while simulta-
neously developing a rigorous training program
in amphibious operations. During the Cold War,
the military post again served as the gateway for
Marines bound for combat in Asia. The wars in
Korea and Vietnam each required expediency
and flexibility on the part of the Marine Corps,
which swiftly rebuilt its forces for deployment

abroad. A continued emphasis on amphibious
landings combined with naval and air support
facilitated Marine combat and counterinsurgen-
cy efforts during these conflicts and secured the
distinct mission and reputation of the Service for
decades to come. In the post-9/11 era, Camp
Pendleton continues to prepare Marines for rap-
id deployment to humanitarian and combat op-
erations around the globe.

Since the founding of Camp Pendleton in

1942, base expansion, natural disasters, and de-

INTRODUCTION  eeo 3



cades of benign neglect have threatened to di-
minish the historic legacy of the Rancho Santa
Margarita y Las Flores and the Marine Division
Command Post. With the designation of Las
Flores Adobe on the National Historic Landmark
Registry and the Santa Margarita Ranch House
complex on the National Register of Historic
Places, the Marine Corps has engaged in preser-

vation and restoration efforts to maintain these

4 oo INTRODUCTION

rich cultural resources. Moreover, the Marine
Division Command Post (now known as 1st Ma-
rine Division Headquarters) has been deemed
eligible for the National Register of Historic
Places and may be added to the list in the future.
Today, the Marine Corps proudly protects these
heritage assets, preserving the rich history of the
base and assuring their continuing place in mili-

tary history for years to come.
y y Y



THE MEXICAN WAR
1846—-48
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The history of Southern California and the U.S.
Marine Corps has been intertwined since the
mid-nineteenth century, when the young Ameri-
can republic, led by President James K. Polk, en-
gaged in its first war conducted on foreign soil.
Having been elected on a platform promising the
“reannexation of Texas, reoccupation of Ore-
gon,” Polk set out to acquire the California terri-
tory from the Mexican government. Mexico had
already refused an offer from the United States
to buy the province a decade earlier; the country
rebuffed Polk’s purchase proposal again in 1845.
Adopting an alternate plan, the president dis-
patched a 33-year-old Marine, First Lieutenant
Archibald H. Gillespie, to courier secret mes-
sages to three U.S. officials on the West Coast.
First Lieutenant Gillespie, disguised as a British
whiskey salesman, arrived in California in April

1846. While the exact contents of his messages

remain unknown, Gillespie instructed the recipi-
ents—American Consul Thomas O. Larkin, U.S.
Navy Commodore John D. Sloat, and U.S. Army
Captain John C. Frémont—to avoid acts of ag-
gression yet also remain ready to strike in the
event that war with Mexico should break out.
Following a skirmish in May 1846 that
resulted in the loss of American lives along the
Rio Grande River, the United States declared
war against Mexico. Fighting along the disputed
Texas-Mexico border soon spread to California,
and as a majority of the U.S. Marine Corps’ 63
officers and 1,200 enlisted personnel were on
board Navy ships at the outbreak of war, the Ma-
rines assisted the U.S. Navy with maintaining a
strict blockade of the Mexican coast. The Marine
Corps also proved a flexible amphibious force
whose landings at various ports and towns per-

mitted a show of strength that made American

|5



One of several campaign banners Nathanial Currier produced for

the Democratic Party in 1844, this banner features portraits of
the presidential and vice presidential candidates, James K. Polk
and George M. Dallas.

Library qf Congress Prints and Photographs Division, Washington, DC

numbers appear larger than they were. On 29
July 1846, a detachment of Marines and sailors
from the sloop-of-war Cyane (1837) made land-
fall in the San Diego area. The squad occupied
the town without opposition and raised the

6 @ THE MEXICAN WAR

The USS Cyane Taking Possession of San Diego Old Town, July 1846 by
Carlton Theodore Chapman.
Maritime Museum of San Diego

United States flag and Marine Corps banner over
the Old Town Plaza.

While First Lieutenant Gillespie and a
temporary garrison force remained in San Di-
ego, the California Battalion of Mounted Rifle-
men (formerly known as the Bear Flag Army)
began its march northward toward Los Angeles.
On 13 August 1846, the battalion joined Com-
modore Robert F. Stockton’s combined force,
which included a Marine detachment from the
USS Congress (1841), en route to their objective.
The Mexican Army retreated upon the Ameri-
cans’ arrival, and Commodore Stockton drew up
a plan for a territorial government and turned
his attention toward enforcing the blockade of

Mexico’s west coast.



Portrait of Gen Andrés Pico, brother of the last governor of Mex-

ican Los Angeles, Pio Pico, ca. 1847. As a leader of the resistance
in Alta California during the Mexican War, Gen Pico worked to
secure postwar protections for Californios under the 1847 Trea-
ty of Cahuenga. He later became a citizen of the United States,
commanded the California Militia, and held public office in the
California State Assembly and California State Senate.

University of Southern California Libraries and California Historical
Society

The battle for Los Angeles was far from
over, however. In response to a local uprising,
Marines and sailors conducted extensive training
exercises on the San Diego shore in preparation

for another march on Los Angeles. Marines were

SERETUH
OF THE
ACTIONS
FOUGHT AT
SAT PASQUAL

IN
UPPER CALIFORNIA

Petween the Americans

GH 30l
SHt
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Sketch of the actions fought at San Pasqual in California between
the Americans and Mexicans, 6—7 December 1846.
The Bancroft Library, University of California Berkeley

also sent among the reinforcements in early De-
cember 1846 to assist U.S. Army Brigadier Gen-
eral Stephen W. Kearny and his dragoons (cavalry
units) in completing the final portion of their

march from Santa Fe, New Mexico. At the Battle

THE MEXICAN WAR  eeo 7
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Artist sketch of the Battle at San Pasqual showing U.S. armed forces fighting Californio lancers on horseback, ca. 1846—48. During
the Mexican War, many California-born Mexicans preferred to use a lance as their primary weapon. They used a lasso to pull American

soldiers from their horses and followed with an attack with the lance. This combination of weapons had a devastating effect at the Battle

of San Pasqual.
The Oakland Museum of California

of San Pasqual, a joint force of dragoons under
the command of Brigadier General Kearny and
a detachment of Marines and sailors under the
command of First Lieutenant Gillespie charged
Californio lancers led by General Andres Pico.
The Americans sustained heavy casualties, in-
cluding 21 deaths and injuries to both Kearny
and Gillespie. Meanwhile in San Diego, Com-

8 @ THE MEXICAN WAR

modore Stockton formed a corps of mounted
Marines. On 11 December, Navy Lieutenant An-
drew Gray led a detachment of 80 Marines and
120 sailors as a reinforcement force to General
Kearny’s and First Lieutenant Gillespie’s troops.
The Californios, who had suffered fewer casual-
ties and had surrounded the U.S. encampment

during the engagement, were now outnum-



bered. General Pico and his troops retreated,
allowing the American dragoons to depart San
Pasqual unchallenged. Acting under orders from
Commodore Stockton, General Kearny later
commanded a mixed force of dragoons, sailors,
volunteers, and Marines toward Los Angeles.
The force engaged in several skirmishes along
the march. On 10 January 1847, the Americans
defeated a charge of Californio lancers and again
occupied the city of Los Angeles.

The Battle of San Pasqual brought the
U.S.-Mexican conflict literally to the doorstep of
the Rancho Santa Margarita y Las Flores. While
the proprietor of the ranch, Don Pio Pico, re-
treated to Mexico for the duration of the war, his
brother-in-law John Forster provided 28 yoke of
oxen from Pico’s stock to support U.S. Captain
Samuel ]. Hensley’s march toward Los Angeles.
Meanwhile, Pico’s brother Andres remained loy-
al to the Californio cause. As commander of one
of the three armies fighting U.S. forces, he used
the ranch as a secure site to meet with his troops.
According to lore, Californio officers Leonardo

Cota and Jose Alipas, under Pico’s command,

planned the Battle of San Pasqual beneath a large
sycamore tree near the Santa Margarita Ranch
House.

In subsequent months, the Marines par-
ticipated in several military actions alongside
the U.S. Army and Navy in other parts of the
province, while the Pacific Squadron success-
fully controlled thousands of miles of coastline
along the west coasts of California and Mexico.
Hostilities in the California theater of operations
ceased about a month later. Performing a variety
of services, ranging from amphibious landings to
garrison duty to infantry charges, a total of 402
Marines served on the West Coast during the
Mexican War.

The Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo formally
ended the war in 1848, and Mexico ceded to the
U.S. government a large tract of land that included
California. Notably, it was General Andrés Pico, a
prominent military leader in the government of
Mexico, who signed the treaty at Cahuenga, now
part of Hollywood, that ended the fighting be-

tween American and Californio forces.

THE MEXICAN WAR @@ 9



THE MEXICAN REVOLUTION OF 1910
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More than a half century passed before the Ma-
rine Corps resumed an active role in the history
of Southern California. American dealings with
Mexico again proved the catalyst, as anxieties
about civil unrest south of the border prompted
the United States to establish a visible military
presence along its coast. Specifically, President
William H. Taft determined to make a display of
armed strength under the guise of training exer-
cises to convey to Mexicans that U.S. nationals
and property in that country must be respected.
The U.S. Army moved units on both U.S. coasts,
as did the Marine Corps. On the East Coast, the
Ist Provisional Marine Brigade held training ex-
ercises at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, while a provi-

sional regiment, commanded by Colonel Charles

A. Doyen, was hastily assembled at Mare Island
Naval Shipyard, California, for “expeditionary
service on the Pacific coast.”

The Mexican Revolution of 1910 under-
scored the advantages of San Diego as a strategic
site for Marine Corps training and embarkation.
Encompassing the Ist, 2d, and 3d Regiments,
Doyen’s newly established unit was designated
the 4th Provisional Marine Regiment and trans-
ported to North Island, San Diego Bay, where
it disembarked and established Camp Thomas
in honor of Navy Rear Admiral Chauncey M.
Thomas, commander in chief of the Pacific Fleet.
When Mexican President Porfirio Diaz resigned
a few months later and the turmoil subsided,

part of the Marine Corps regiment at Camp

' Annual Reports of the Navy Department for FiscalYear 1911 (Wash-
ington, DC: Navy Department, 1912), 530.

| 10 ]
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Camp Thomas, 27 April 1911.
California State Military Department Historical Collection

Thomas disbanded, while the remaining officers
and enlisted men returned to their regular duty
stations in July 1911.

Continuing political and civil disorder in
Mexico compelled the Marine Corps to return
three years later. Following the coup and subse-
quent assassination of Mexican President Fran-
cisco Madero, the United States government
refused to recognize General Victoriano Huerta
as the legitimate head of state. Relations between
the two nations deteriorated further in 1914 due
to an incident at Tampico involving the alleged
mistreatment of American naval personnel by
Mexican officials and refusal of the Mexican gov-
ernment to apologize with a public gunfire salute
to the American flag. Soon thereafter, President

Woodrow Wilson retaliated by sending a com-

Broadside view of USS Jupiter (AC 3) with the tug Active alongside
in the Mare Island Channel, 16 October 1913.
Oﬂi’cial U.S. Navy photo, #AC 3002-10-13

bined force of Navy and Marines to the port city
of Veracruz. Responding to intelligence that a
European vessel with a cargo of arms and am-
munition was en route to the Mexican coast, the
commander in chief took preemptive action and
ordered the Atlantic Fleet to prevent its delivery
to the Mexican forces waiting ashore.

As U.S.-Mexico relations grew increasing-
ly strained, Marine Corps officials considered it
desirable to have a force ready to deploy for the
west coast of Mexico. The 4th Marine Regiment
was reactivated, and Colonel Joseph H. Pend-
leton assumed command of the expeditionary
force. Its mission was to quell civil and politi-
cal unrest in Mexico. Organized at Puget Sound,
Washington, and Mare Island Naval Shipyard,
California, in April 1914, the regiment em-

THE MEXICAN REVOLUTION e 11



barked on board the USS South Dakota (ACR 9),
USS West Virginia (ACR 5), and USS Jupiter (AC
3) for the Gulf of California, where it remained

the Mexican government the following July, the
Marines returned to San Diego where they have

remained ever since.
as a show of force. When stability was restored to

12 eo THE MEXICAN REVOLUTION



MAJOR GENERAL JOSEPH H. PENDLETON
AND THE ORIGINS OF THE MARINES
ON THE WEST COAST

€9)

Major General Joseph Henry Pendleton was a
pioneering force in Marine Corps activities on
the West Coast. An enthusiastic supporter of San
Diego, Major General Pendleton acknowledged
the strategic location of Southern California and
advocated a stronger, more permanent Marine
Corps presence in the region. His activism re-
flected an emerging Marine Corps doctrine of
amphibious operations, which promoted the
development of the “advanced base force” and
began exercises as early as 1901. Arriving in Cal-
ifornia in 1914, following expeditionary service
in Nicaragua, Santo Domingo, Guam, and the
Philippines, then-Colonel Pendleton expressed
an early commitment to establishing the Marine
Corps as a force in readiness. He believed the
mild climate and harbor of San Diego were espe-

cially well suited to this purpose.

In early July 1914, Colonel Pendleton’s 4th
Regiment disembarked in San Diego harbor from
expeditionary duty in the Gulf of California,
where it had been monitoring the Mexican Rev-
olution as an American show of force. Whereas
previous expeditionary units were disbanded and
the officers and men returned to their regular
duty stations, the Marine Corps maintained the
4th Regiment as the beginning of a permanent
post in that city.” Under the command of Colo-
nel Pendleton, the regiment established military
quarters at North Island and dubbed the encamp-
ment Camp Howard in honor of the incumbent
commander in chief of the Pacific Fleet, Rear
Admiral Thomas B. Howard.

Colonel Pendleton considered North Is-

> A portion of the 4th Marines were stationed in San Francisco

as well.

[ 13 ]



land unsatisfactory for a permanent Marine Corps
installation, however. Two months after founding
Camp Howard, the commander delivered a pub-
lic address on the subject to a group of local cit-
izens at the U.S. Grant Hotel in downtown San
Diego. His lecture, “San Diego, An Ideal Location
for a Permanent Marine Corps Base,” expounded
on the unsatisfactory conditions and inconvenient
location of his regiment at Camp Howard as com-
pared to the city of San Diego. Soon thereafter,
he presented his argument to the Major General
Commandant of the Marine Corps as well. In a
letter to Brigadier General George Barnett, Col-
onel Pendleton noted the deplorable conditions
at Camp Howard and introduced the idea of es-
tablishing a permanent Marine Corps base in San
Diego. Located just 12 miles north of the Mex-
ican border and containing an excellent harbor,
the city readily presented itself as an expedition-
ary base, convenient to the Pacific approaches of
Latin America, Hawaii, and the Far East.

Colonel Pendleton’s 4th Regiment remained
at Camp Howard until December, at which
time the unit was assigned temporary duty at
the Panama-California Exposition. In 1915, San
Francisco and San Diego both hosted major cel-
ebrations to mark the completion of the Panama
Canal, which had opened officially to maritime
traffic the previous summer. The Marine Corps

ordered the st Battalion of the 4th Regiment to

4 eo

Portrait of MajGen Joseph H. Pendleton (1860—1942), ca. 1917.
When this photograph was taken, Pendleton held the rank of col-

onel.

Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division, Washington, DC

the Panama-Pacific International Exposition in
San Francisco, while the 2d Battalion maintained
a model camp at Balboa Park as part of the Pan-
ama-California Exposition in San Diego. Among
the highlights of the Marine Corps exhibit at the
fairgrounds was a sham battle between cavalry
and Marine forces on 6 April 1915.

Both the Navy and Army strengthened the

MAJOR GENERAL JOSEPH H. PENDLETON
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The 4th Marine Regiment, commanded by then Col Joseph H. Pendleton, at North Island, CA, in 1914.

Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division, Washington, DC

Col Joseph H. Pendleton (far right), commanding officer of
4th Marine Regiment, and Capt Charles H. Lyman (third from
right), adjutant of 4th Marine Regiment, at a display commem-

orating former President Theodore Roosevelt’s expedition into
the Amazon and River of Doubt during the Panama-California
Exposition of 1915. Also pictured (left to right): unidentified
Marine orderly; George Burnham, one of the organizers of the
expeditions; G. Aubrey Davidson, prominent San Diego resident
and president of the exposition; unknown; Ed Fletcher, politician
and director of the exposition; President Theodore Roosevelt;
unknown; and D. C. Collier, prominent San Diego resident and
organizer of the exposition.

Private collection of Col Charles H. Lyman, USMC (Ret)

U.S. military presence during World War I and
immediately afterward with permanent facilities
in San Diego and surrounding areas. The Ma-
rine Corps also expanded in the region based on
Pendleton’s long-range vision. As early as 1914,
Assistant Secretary of the Navy Franklin D. Roo-
sevelt had made a trip to Southern California to
inspect the San Diego area as a possible site for
a Marine Corps “advanced base station” for the
West Coast similar to the one being maintained
on the East Coast at Philadelphia.

On 19 December 1914, Colonel Pendle-
ton reported by telegram to Headquarters Ma-
rine Corps that the Marine Barracks San Diego
had been established at Balboa Park. Despite this
proclamation, the installation at San Diego re-
mained in temporary status. No land had been
acquired for a permanent station and no steps
had been taken by the Navy Department to do
so. Nevertheless, Pendleton persisted in advocat-
ing the unique suitability of San Diego as a loca-

tion for a permanent expeditionary base.

MAJOR GENERAL JOSEPH H. PENDLETON  eo 15



In 1915, Assistant Secretary of the Navy
Roosevelt made another visit to San Diego. He
visited the exposition and again inspected sites
that might serve as a future Marine Corps base.
Following Roosevelt’s return to Washington,
Navy Department officials asked Commandant
Barnett to inspect the San Diego locations under
consideration and recommend the one he found
most suitable. The Major General Commandant
submitted his findings on 26 August 1915. Bas-
ing his opinion on location and purchase price,
Commandant Barnett concluded that only one
prospect—a tract on San Diego Bay—met the
requirements for the current development and
future growth of a Marine Corps installation.

The need for a permanent West Coast base
became increasingly apparent as internal condi-
tions in Mexico prompted the Marine Corps to
withdraw part of the 4th Regiment from expo-
sition duty and send it on an expeditionary mis-
sion along the west coast of Mexico. In June, 300
Marines from the 25th, 26th, and 28th Compa-
nies of the 2d Battalion, 4th Regiment, departed
the city on board the USS Colorado (ACR 7) for
Guaymas, Mexico, where their assignment was
to convince the Yaqui Indians to cease disturbing
American nationals residing in that part of the
country. The companies returned to the fair on
10 August 1915 after determining that a landing

in Mexico would not be necessary.

16 co

Marines marching across Cabrillo Bridge during the grand open-
ing festivities for the Panama-California Exposition, 1 January
1915.

Ca]l'fomia History Section Picture Catalog, Ca]ifornia State Library

The city of San Diego added further in-
centive to Marine Corps expansion in the fall of
1915, when officials offered the Navy Depart-
ment 500 acres of municipally owned tidelands
on the condition that the military branch pur-
chase an adjoining 232 acres of privately owned
lands. By January 1916, Secretary of the Navy
Josephus Daniels and the Navy General Board
approved a plan to proceed with the real estate
purchase and installation of a permanent Marine
Corps post at San Diego. Along with Mare Is-
land Naval Shipyard, California, the base became
home to the 4th Regiment, and Major William
N. McKelvy assumed command of the newly es-

tablished Marine barracks.

MAJOR GENERAL JOSEPH H. PENDLETON



Less than six months later, the 4th Marine
Regiment departed San Diego for expeditionary
duty in Santo Domingo. On 6 June 1916, Colo-
nel Pendleton and his men embarked by rail for
New Orleans, Louisiana, where they then board-
ed the USS Hancock (AP 3) and set sail for the
Dominican Republic. The regiment became one
component of the 2d Provisional Brigade and
served there in support of the U.S. government
from 1916 to 1924.

After serving as commander of U.S. forc-

es in Santo Domingo until October 1918, Brig-
adier General Pendleton assumed command of
Marine Barracks Parris Island, South Carolina,
from which post he was later detached to acti-
vate Headquarters, 2d Advanced Base Force, at
San Diego. He arrived at the Marine barracks on
1 October 1919 and established his new head-
quarters that same day. As construction was
still ongoing at Marine Corps Base San Diego,
the post continued to be located at Balboa Park

where the barracks detachment had grown from

garim Bau San Diegp Cal.

Aerial view of Marine Corps Base San Diego, 1921.

Official U.S. Marine Corps photo, courtesy of Command Museum, Marine Corps Recruit Depot San Diego

MAJOR GENERAL JOSEPH H. PENDLETON  eeo 17



the platoon-size organization left by the 4th Reg-
iment in 1916 to approximately 10 officers and
300 men during the First World War.

Pendleton remained in charge of Marine
Corps activities in San Diego during the next
five years. On 1 April 1921, the 1st Battalion of
the 7th Regiment was reactivated at San Diego
as a component of the 2d Advanced Base Force.
The following November, the latter was redes-
ignated the 5th Brigade, and on 1 December,
the Ist Battalion, 7th Regiment, became the 1st
Separate Battalion, 5th Brigade. These organiza-
tional changes necessitated the move from Bal-
boa Park to Dutch Flats. The soggy marshland
had required significant upgrades, but in 1921
the installation was fully operational and the
Marine Advanced Expeditionary Base, San Di-
ego, was established. Less than two years later,
the Marine Corps recruit depot for the western
United States also relocated to the new base at

San Diego.With the consolidation of the Marine

18 e

Barracks at Mare Island Naval Shipyard with the
recruit depot in Southern California, San Diego
became the sole training site for all recruits from
the western part of the United States.

Receiving the official designation of Marine
Corps Base, Naval Operating Base, San Diego, on
1 March 1924, the installation largely reflected
the vision and leadership of Major General Pend-
leton. After 46 years of military service, the base
commander stepped away from an active role in
Marine Corps affairs. He retired in June 1924,
secure in the knowledge that the Marine Corps
Base San Diego had established a prominent and
permanent Marine Corps presence on the West
Coast. Major General Pendleton remained an
active and public-spirited citizen of Coronado,
across the bay from San Diego, and witnessed
continuing military development in the region
until his death nearly 18 years later on 4 Febru-
ary 1942.

MAJOR GENERAL JOSEPH H. PENDLETON



WORLD WAR I
1941-45

€9)

With the looming specter of war in 1940, the Ma-
rine Corps doubled in size. Prior to World War I,
Marines trained primarily in Quantico, Virginia,
and Parris Island, South Carolina. A contingent
also trained at the Marine Corps Base San Diego
(now known as Marine Corps Recruit Depot, San
Diego). Although these existing facilities expand-
ed to support the influx of new recruits, the an-
ticipated involvement of U.S. armed forces in the
South Pacific precipitated a call for a larger West
Coast training installation. Marine Corps Base San
Diego was landlocked and thus a poor location for
amphibious assault training exercises. A 9,000-
acre temporary camp, known as Camp Elliot af-
ter former Commandant George F. Elliott, was
established north of the city, but that facility, too,
soon reached capacity. The Marine Corps began
pursuing an additional site for the purpose of

training recruits for the Pacific theater.

In the years leading up to World War II,
both the Marine Corps and Army expressed in-
terest in acquiring all or part of the Rancho Santa
Margarita y Las Flores for training troops. The
tract, located approximately 50 miles north of
San Diego near the community of Oceanside,
offered ample coastline and relatively undevel-
oped terrain. Split among several private own-
ers and operated by managers for the heirs, the
ranch encompassed more than 260,000 acres in
San Diego and Orange Counties. Army planners
initially envisioned the site as a training base for
developing an armored division, but decided that
the steep canyons and hills were ill-suited for
units preparing to fight in North Africa or Cen-
tral Europe. The Marine Corps, by contrast, ap-
preciated the property’s vast acreage and varied
terrain. In addition, its beaches were conducive

to amphibious exercises, a particularly import-
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Map of Rancho Santa Margarita y Las Flores by U.S. Deputy Surveyor Max Strobel, July 1867.

The Bancroft Library, University of California Berkeley

ant feature to the Marines due to the greater em-
phasis being placed on amphibious warfare. Only
its distance from San Diego and anticipated de-
velopment costs prevented Marine Corps plan-
ners from recommending the ranch for Marine
Corps expansion.

The Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor and
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U.S. declaration of war in December 1941 add-
ed a sense of urgency to military efforts to ac-
quire civilian land for the war effort. Under the
Second War Powers Act, the federal government
possessed the ability to seize private property
for immediate use while it negotiated a fair price

with the owners. In April 1942, the military



compensated the O’Neill and Flood families a
combined total of $4.2 million for approximate-
ly 121,000 acres of land, including almost 20
miles of coastal property.’ This purchase includ-
ed the core buildings of the Rancho Santa Mar-
garita y Las Flores: the Santa Margarita Ranch
House, bunkhouse, and blacksmith shop (now a
chapel), as well as the Las Flores Adobe ranch
house constructed by Marco A. Forster in 1867.

Military officials initially intended the new
training facility to be ready for occupancy in six
months and moved quickly to build the basic
infrastructure necessary to support 20,000 Ma-
rines. More than 5,000 laborers worked around
the clock to prepare airfields, barracks, rail-
roads, administration buildings, and other sup-
port facilities. The rapid pace of development

and large number of expected recruits necessi-

*The Marine Corps aimed to purchase the land outright, but the
Baumgartner family, who had married into the O’Neill family,
offered to lease the property to the Marine Corps instead. The
Marine Corps deemed it essential to own the ranch so that it
could terminate the existing leases with tenants and use the land
as it wished. Condemnation proceedings began for the acquisition
of 113,000 acres, and the land was vested to the Marine Corps
in December 1942. While some families were able to maintain
individual leases from the government to continue farming the
land until the 1960s, the majority of tenant farmers moved away.
In addition, the residents of a small Japanese settlement were re-
located to internment camps. Later purchases expanded the total
acreage. See Ryan Jordan, “Remembering the Forgotten Village
of San Onofre: An Untold Story of Race Relations,” Journal of San
Diego History 60, no. 1-2 (Winter/Spring 2014): 27—-44.

tated the widespread construction of temporary
structures. The primary troop facilities included
Navy Bl-type wood frame barracks with bat-
talion mess halls and tent camps. Storage build-
ings rested on concrete foundations, while most
wood frame administration buildings and bar-
racks of temporary construction were elevated
on post-and-pier foundations. Nevertheless, the
expedited pace of construction was stymied by
changing design plans, the challenge of coordi-
nating multiple survey parties, and spring flood-
ing of the Santa Margarita River and smaller
streams running through base. To ensure the mil-
itary installation would be operational by Sep-
tember, the project managers adopted a vertical
approach, focusing construction efforts first on
the “Mainside” area in the southeast portion of
base and expanding to other designated areas in
order of priority.

By late summer, Colonel Lemuel C. Shep-
herd Jr. led the 9th Marine Regiment with the
Ist Battalion, 12th Marines, on a four-day tac-
tical march north from Camp Elliot, east of Mi-
ramar, to become the first troops to occupy the
new installation. Colonel Shepherd conceived
of the multiday trek as an extended training ex-
ercise. Having dispatched one of his companies
in advance to plan simulated attacks against the
marching Marines, the commander ordered his

troops to remain on constant alert as though they
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Panoramic view of area 1, where the 1st Marine Division Headquarters building is now located.

J. E. Haddock Scrapbook, MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

were traversing enemy territory. The perceived
threat that the Japanese might attack Southern
California made this pretense easy to follow, and
the regiment successfully defeated a series of
mock ambushes en route to their new quarters.

President Franklin D. Roosevelt oversaw
the official dedication of the base on 25 Septem-
ber 1942. In a simple ceremony honoring the
memory of Major General Joseph H. Pendleton,
the president designated the new military instal-
lation Camp Pendleton after the Marine Corps
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general’s longtime advocacy for a permanent
Marine presence in San Diego. Roosevelt was
joined by General Pendleton’s widow, Mary Fay
Pendleton, who affixed the national colors and
slowly raised the flag, and Major General Joseph
C. Fegan, the first commanding general of Camp
Pendleton, who read aloud the orders that for-
mally placed the base in commission.

Designed to provide large-scale tactical
training for organizations before they were

shipped out to the Pacific, the facility was a geo-



CAMP PENDLETON CONSTRUCTION STATISTICS

Prime J. E. Haddock, Ltd.
contractors: Engineers, Ltd.
Construction
duration: 16 months
Cost: $35 million

(initial contract)
Employees: 5,500 (peak) from San

Diego and Los Angeles

Construction area:

Pacific Ocean to
Riverside County line
and between the city
limits of Oceanside and
San Clemente

Elevations:

Sea level to more than
3,000 feet above sea level

Initial facilities built:

518 buildings consisting
of 4.5 million square feet
(approximately 100 acres)

Roads built:

14 miles of paved
four-lane highway

30 miles of secondary
paved roads

65 miles of unpaved
roads

The lumber yard at Camp Pendleton, 1942.
J. E. Haddock Scrapbook, MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

graphical model of the concept of a land-sea-air
team. Tanks churned in the meadows while in-
fantry trained in the hilly interior wilderness.

Amtracs rolled into Del Mar Boat Basin and out

to sea, and the new airstrip near the Santa Mar-
garita Ranch House facilitated Marine aviators’
training for operations in the Pacific theater. By
the end of World War 1I, the entire 3d, 4th, and
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Marines from 9th Marine Regiment and its attachments marched
from Camp Elliott to the new Marine Corps base, Camp Pendle-
ton, over four days starting on 1 September 1942.

Official U.S. Marine Corps photo

5th Divisions, or fully one-half of the Marines
who fought in the Pacific, passed through the
“Gateway to the Pacific.” Meanwhile, Camp El-
liot had become home to the Fleet Marine Force
Training Center, West Coast, and carried the
principal mission of training individual replace-
ments for combat units overseas. When the Navy
took over the facility in 1944, Headquarters,
Fleet Marine Force, San Diego Area, transferred
to Camp Pendleton. The merger distinguished
the latter as the largest Marine Corps base in the
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President Franklin D. Roosevelt and Mary Fay Pendleton, widow
of MajGen Joseph H. Pendleton, at the dedication ceremony for
Camp Pendleton, 25 September 1942. In the foreground, GySgt
Carl A. Ostrom holds the U.S. flag prior to its raising as part of
the inauguration of the base.

Official U.S. Marine Corps photo

nation. Consonant with its prominence in both
population and amphibious training capabilities,
Camp Pendleton became a permanent training
installation on 14 October 1944.

After the war, Camp Pendleton reversed
direction and served as a demobilization center
for the Marine Corps. All organized units re-
turning to the United States from the Pacific the-
ater passed through Southern California. Camp
Pendleton’s Training Command became the Re-

distribution Regiment, processing 50,000 men



U.S. Marine Raiders dash at full speed along narrow poles as part
of training at Camp Pendleton, January 1943.
Official U.S. Marine Corps photo

either for immediate separation or relocation to
another station for discharge from the Marine
Corps. Several smaller units based at the installa-
tion, including the Navajo Code Talkers and the
Marine Corps Women Reserve, were disband-
ed altogether. The total strength of the Marine
Corps decreased from 485,000 at the close of
the war to 80,000 in 1947.

S E T ’
- g P g
Map of training facilities at Camp Pendleton, 1944.
MCB Camp Pendleton Archives
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POST-WORLD WAR Il ERA
1946-49

€9)

The immediate postwar years at Camp Pendle-
ton witnessed significant organizational changes.
In 1946, General Alexander A. Vandegrift, Com-
mandant of the Marine Corps, declared that the
base would remain the center of all Marine Corps
activities on the West Coast. Furthermore, the
military post would be permanently maintained
as the home of the 1st Marine Division and Sig-
nal School. As the battalion moved from Camp
Lejeune, North Carolina, to reduce the concen-
tration of training on the East Coast, the name
of the West Coast facility changed from Marine
Training and Replacement Command, San Di-
ego Area, to Marine Barracks, Camp Pendleton.
With this shift in designation, Camp Pendleton

became an independent command, distinct from

the San Diego area commands, when Major
General Graves B. Erskine assumed leadership of
base the following year.

In 1947, President Harry S. Truman signed
the National Security Act, which established the
Marine Corps as a permanent part of the mil-
itary attached to the Navy. In so doing, the act
formalized the special amphibious function of
the Marine Corps. Specifically, its mission under
the new organizational structure became defined
as the seizure and defense of advanced bases and
engagement in land operations related to naval
campaigns.* These developments secured the fu-
ture of the Marine Corps and clarified its role

within the U.S. armed forces.

* The National Security Act also established a separate Air Force

and organized the military under a single secretary of defense.
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The National Security Act of 1947 merged the Department of
War and the Department of the Navy into the National Military
Establishment. It also created the Department of the Air Force
and protected the Marine Corps as an independent Service. In
1949, President Harry S. Truman signed an amendment to the
legislation, which converted the National Military Establishment

into a new Department of Defense.

Harry S. Truman Library, National Archives and Records Administration,

- - courtesy of Abbie Rowe
Commandant of the Marine Corps Alexander A. Vandegrift

declared that Camp Pendleton would be the center of all West
Coast Marine activities and the home of the 1st Marine Division.
Official U.S. Marine Corps photo
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KOREAN WAR
1950-53
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Regional wars took on new significance during
the Cold War as the United States and its allies
engaged in military action in distant locales, such
as Korea and Vietnam. On 25 June 1950, North
Korean ground and air forces cut across the 38th
Parallel in a surprise invasion of South Korea. The
United States and a coalition of nations responded
to a request from the United Nations to enter the
conflict in defense of South Korea and to prevent
the spread of Communism to new locales.

The Korean War prompted an acceleration
of recruitment and training, such that approxi-
mately 200,000 Marines passed through Camp
Pendleton en route to Asia. The 1st Provisional
Brigade with troops from the 5th Marines were
the first unit to be trained and shipped out of
the installation, all within days of Army Gener-
al Douglas MacArthur’s initial call for a Marine

Regimental Combat Team and a supporting air

group in July 1950. The 5th Marines arrived in
the Pusan Perimeter on 2 August, and the rest
of the division followed soon after. The Train-
ing and Replacement Command managed the
influx of reservists reporting to Camp Pendle-
ton for active duty, while the 1st Advanced In-
fantry Training Regiment provided four weeks
of combat training for boot camp graduates.
Special training areas designed to simulate the
conditions of fighting in Korea were devel-
oped as well, including those on Camp Pend-
leton, the nearby Marine Corps Mountain
Warfare Training Center, and Twentynine Palms.

For the Marine Corps, the Korean War es-
tablished a pattern of Cold War combat action in
regional, limited, and costly wars. The conflict
marked the first occasion in which the Marine
Corps employed both helicopters and jet aircraft

in combat. In addition, the demonstrable suc-
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Members of a .30-caliber machine gun platoon of the 1st Provisional Marine Brigade prepare to embark for the Far East, 12 July 1950.

Officia] U.S. Marine Corps photo, Historical querence Branch, Marine Corps History Division, Quantico, VA, courtesy ongt F J. Hotman

cess of Marine brigade reinforcement of Army
troops at the Pusan Peninsula and the 1st Marine
Division’s amphibious landing at Inchon and re-
capture of Seoul helped secure a future for the
Marine Corps against critics who argued against
a permanent and independent role for the Ser-
vice. In June 1952, Congress demonstrated its
confidence in the Marine Corps by passing an

amendment to the National Security Act. The

legislation delineated the place of the Marine
Corps as a separate Service with distinct roles
and missions and guaranteed a force strength of
at least three combat divisions and three aircraft
wings. General Lemuel Shepherd, who became
Commandant on 1 January 1952, set about im-
plementing the law immediately. Camp Pend-
leton became the headquarters for the Ist and

3d Marine Divisions, which were reformed and
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A U.S. Marine patrol closes in on a Korean hut in search of an enemy sniper.
Official U.S. Marine Corps photo, Historical Reference Branch, Marine Corps History Division, Quantico, VA, courtesy of TSgt Frank W. Sewell

reactivated in response to the ongoing war. The
Ist Marine Division was swiftly assembled and
sent to Korea, while the 3d Marine Division
deployed as a replacement force to Japan. The
conflict ended in 1953 with a cease-fire that re-
established the previous division of the peninsula
along the 38th Parallel.

Following the Korean War, military strate-

gists advocated the development of a more flex-
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ible and mobile Marine Corps that comprised
divisions capable of being airlifted for combat.
The 1st Marine Division remained at Camp
Pendleton as the Corps’ force in readiness, as the
undeveloped coastline and inland areas permit-
ted military leaders ample opportunity to test
and refine these reorganization ideas through

large—scale exercises in the 1950s and 1960s.



Amphibious exercises became commonplace at Camp Pendleton during the 1950s and 1960s.
Historical Photograph Collection, MCB Camp Pendleton Archives
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STAFF SERGEANT RECKLESS
(ca. 1948-68)

Reckless, a small chestnut-colored horse with a
white blaze on her face and three white stocking
feet, served bravely with the Marine Corps during
the Korean War. Recruited into service in October
1952, the mare endeared herself to the Marines
through her heroic actions on the battlefield. The
Marine Corps honored her service with official
rank in the United States military, and in 1959,
Reckless attained the rank of staff sergeant under
the auspices of General Randolph McC. Pate, Com-
mandant of the Marine Corps.

The distinguished career of this warhorse
began when Lieutenant Eric Pedersen, the com-
manding officer of the Recoilless Rifle Platoon, An-
titank Company, 5th Marine Regiment, recognized
the value of having a horse to help carry ammu-
nition for his platoon’s recoilless rifles. Introduced
in World War II, the weapon could be carried by
three or four men and project a 65mm shell sever-
al thousand yards with precision; however, rounds
weighed approximately 24 pounds, which meant
that a Marine ammunition carrier was limited in
how many he could transport. With two other Ma-
rines, Pedersen visited the Seoul racetrack and paid
$250 of his own money to buy a little red horse
from a young Korean, Kim Huk Moon, who want-
ed to buy an artificial leg for his wounded sister.
When the Marines arrived back at camp with the
horse riding in a jeep trailer, members of the pla-

toon gathered to meet the new equine recruit. They

PFC Winford G. McCraken, Headquarters Company, 5th Ma-
rines, stands by as Gen Randolph McC. Pate, Commandant of
the Marine Corps, tacks chevrons on the blanket of SSgt Reck-
less, August 1959.

Oﬁqcial U.S. Marine Corps photo, Historical Rgference Branch, Marine
Corps History Division, Quantico, VA, courtesy qf Rhoades

dubbed her “Reckless,” after the nickname Marines
had given the recoilless rifle.

Pedersen assigned Platoon Sergeant Joseph
Latham the responsibility of overseeing battlefield
training for the horse. Latham taught Reckless how
to get in and out of a jeep trailer, how to take cover
while on the front lines, and how to return to the
bunker when incoming rounds hit behind the lines.
The platoon sergeant also secured a pack saddle,
which permitted the horse to carry loads of 610
rounds to Marines on the front lines. Although
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initially nervous around the live rounds, Reckless
settled into the routine of delivering ammunition
to the recoilless gun crew. When not on the front
lines, she assisted the platoon with stringing com-
munication wire and with carrying grenades, small-
arms ammunition, rations, sleeping bags, and even
barbed wire.

Reckless served in numerous combat actions
during the Korean War. Her primary duty was to
carry rounds for the recoilless rifle platoon from
the ammunition supply point to their various firing
sites. In March 1953, Reckless demonstrated both
courage and grit during the battle at Outpost Ve-
gas. Crossing rice paddies and up a steep 45-degree
mountain trail, the little red mare made more than
50 trips from the ammunition supply point to the
firing sites.

Despite being wounded twice during bat-
tle, Reckless carried more than 9,000 pounds of
ammunition, walked more than 35 miles through
exposed terrain, and returned carrying wound-
ed soldiers to safety. For her accomplishments
during the action at Outpost Vegas, General Pate,
commander of the 1st Marine Division, awarded
Reckless a battlefield promotion from corporal to
sergeant in a formal ceremony, complete with re-
viewing stand, on 10 April 1954, several months
after the war ended. The horse was promoted
again to staff sergeant on 31 August 1959 at Camp

Pendleton. Pate, then Commandant of the Marine

Corps, presided over the ceremony. Reckless was
honored with a 19-gun salute and a parade of 1,700
Marines from her wartime unit.’

In addition to attaining the rank of staff ser-
geant, Reckless received numerous military dec-
orations, including two Purple Hearts, a Marine
Corps Good Conduct Medal, a Presidential Unit
Citation with bronze star, a National Defense Ser-
vice Medal, a Korean Service Medal, a United Na-
tions Korea Medal, a Navy Unit Commendation,
and Republic of Korea Presidential Unit Citation,
all of which she wore on her red and gold blan-
ket. In 1971, the 1st Marine Division Association
honored Reckless by erecting a memorial at the
entrance to the base stables. More recently, the
Marine Corps has installed memorial statues by
sculptor Jocelyn Russell at Camp Pendleton as well
as at the National Museum of the Marine Corps in

Quantico, Virginia.

® The number of guns in a salute signifies the importance of the
event or person(s) being recognized. Nineteen guns are typi-
cally reserved for the vice president and American or foreign
ambassadors. The only salute higher, 21 guns, is used to honor
the U.S. flag, the American president, presidents from other

nations, or visiting members of a royal family.
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VIETNAM WAR
1963-75
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When civil war broke out between the U.S.-
backed South Vietnamese government and the
Communist regime of North Vietnam and its
supporters, known as the Viet Cong, the Unit-
ed States authorized ground troops to support
South Vietnamese forces. With its location on
the Pacific Coast, Camp Pendleton once again
became a springboard for Marines bound for
duty in the Far East. Each month, approximately
6,000—8,000 Marines trained at Camp Pendle-
ton for duty in Vietnam.

Marine Corps expansion during the Viet-
nam War spurred additional growth at Camp
Pendleton, the primary training facility and stag-
ing installation for operations in Asia. In 1964,
the military base established new weapons rang-
es to alleviate crowding at the Marine Corps
Recruit Depot, San Diego, where civilian devel-

opment was encroaching on the existing training

ranges at La Jolla, California. U.S. participation
in the Vietnam conflict also generated a severe
manpower shortage that necessitated the re-
activation of the 5th Marine Division at Camp
Pendleton in 1967—68. As the 1st Marine Divi-
sion had already departed California for Vietnam
in March of 1966, the 5th Marine Division was
ordered to serve as the permanent West Coast
combat-ready force. The division placed units in
Hawaii, Okinawa, and California as part of its re-
inforcement and strategic reserve missions sup-
porting Marines actively fighting in Vietnam.

At peak U.S. involvement in 1969 and
1970, Camp Pendleton ushered close to 80,000
Marines through deployment training each year.
After boot camp, Marines would travel to Camp
Pendleton where they would be assigned to com-
panies. Each company would spend two weeks

studying individual and advanced combat train-
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Vietnam village, Las Pulgas, Camp Pendleton.
Historical Photograph Collection, MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

Marines participated in counterinsurgency training at the simu-
lated Vietnam village aboard Camp Pendleton.
Historical Photograph Collection, MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

ing, basic infantry training, and combat familiar-
ization. Those receiving specialized training, such
as communications, field medical, and language
studies, would then advance to technical training
in the Schools Battalion. Marines assigned to in-
fantry units completed an additional two weeks
of training as riflemen, machine gunners, mortar
men, scout snipers, and reconnaissance person-
nel. To prepare new recruits for the particular
challenges of guerrilla warfare in Vietnam, the
Korean village combat town was converted into
aVietnamese village, complete with booby traps.
After training, Marines would spend 15 days at
the Staging Battalion, where they received dog
tags, clothing, ID cards, immunizations, and
physical and dental examinations before depart-
ing for Vietnam or stations overseas. Additional
training involved locating and disarming boo-
by traps, identifying Communist Vietnamese
troops, and firing and maintaining the M16 rifle.

President Richard M. Nixon began a grad-
ual withdrawal of U.S. forces from Vietnam in
1969. Six years later, after the United States of-
ficially pulled out and North Vietnamese forces
began to encircle Saigon, the U.S. government
initiated one of the largest humanitarian airlifts
in history. In a matter of days, American helicop-
ters evacuated thousands of U.S. military per-
sonnel and their families, as well as Vietnamese

allies and other foreign nationals whose support

VIETNAM WAR  eeo 35



of the United States placed them in grave dan-
ger. The displacement of Vietnamese refugees
precipitated Operation New Arrivals, a reset-
tlement program consisting of processing cen-
ters and tent camps at four military bases on
the U.S. mainland, including Camp Pendleton.
Housed in large squad tents in a relocation cen-
ter at Camps Cristianitos and Talega, more than
36,000 refugees passed through the base during
the first two phases of the operation. An average
of 210 refugees arrived each day, and an average
of 262 departed daily for resettlement. The final
phase began in September with the last refugee
departing Camp Pendleton on 31 October. Over
the course of the operation, Marines erected
more than 1,000 tents and processed more than
50,000 refugees. The camp officially closed on
15 November 1975.
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Refugee children continued their studies at Camp Pendleton

during Operation New Arrivals. Many attended their first classes
in English at this time.
Oﬁcial U.S. Marine Corps photo, courtesy ofGiH



POST-VIETNAM ERA
1976—PRESENT
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After Vietnam, the Marine Corps shifted its
mission capabilities from amphibious tactics to
expeditionary warfare, with a particular focus
on special operations and urban warfare. In the
1980s, Camp Pendleton became the West Coast
home of the U.S. Navy’s new landing craft air
cushion (hovercraft) and Assault Craft Unit 5,
the purpose of which was to support naval opera-
tions by transporting troops, food, and firepower
via coastal landings. Combining infantry, armor,
supply, and air power, Marines have demonstrat-
ed the effectiveness of the air-ground team to
meet modern exigencies in both humanitarian
and combat operations.

In the summer of 1990, the 1st Marine
Division deployed to the Persian Gulf in Oper-
ations Desert Shield and Desert Storm. Com-
prising part of the largest deployment of U.S.

military forces since Vietnam, the Marine Corps

underscored the speed and efficiency of Ameri-
can military might through its rapid deployment
of troops and equipment from Camp Pendleton
to the Middle East in a matter of days. The divi-
sion returned to the United States by April 1991.

Today, Camp Pendleton is home to the I
Marine Expeditionary Force (I MEF) and its sub-
ordinate units, as well as tenant units at Marine
Corps Air Station Miramar, Marine Corps Tac-
tical Systems Support Activity, and the Navy’s
Assault Craft Units. The base further provides
specialized schools and training as directed by the
Commandant of the Marine Corps. The military
base remains an outstanding training facility pre-
paring military personnel for rapid deployment
and maintaining combat readiness in the twenty-
first century. Its vast acreage allows the use of
modern weaponry and permits trainees to en-

gage in landing exercises and tactical maneu-
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The 1st Marine Division formed the first combat-ready forces in Saudi Arabia. In early August 1990, Marines at Camp Pendleton
learned that Iraqi forces led by Saddam Hussein had invaded Kuwait and immediately began preparations for deployment.
Ojﬁ'dal U.S. Marine Corps photo, courtesy qu)/Sgt Chuck Archuleta

vers. With its varied terrain, Camp Pendleton
also supports experimentation for a wide range
of combat operations. Since the 1980s, Marines
stationed at Camp Pendleton have served in Gre-
nada, Panama, the Persian Gulf, Somalia, and the

wars in Iraq and Afghanistan.

Because Camp Pendleton is the home of I MEF, 1st Marine Di-
vision remains at the forefront in the Global War on Terrorism,
maintaining 14 military operations in urban terrain facilities to
prepare Marines for combat in urban environments.

Official U.S. Marine Corps photo
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Reconnaissance Training Company Marines receive an acrial view of Camp Pendleton during Special Patrol Insertion/Extraction train-
ing at the San Mateo Landing Zone, 17 April 2015.
Official U.S. Marine Corps photo, courtesy of LCpl Asia J. Sorenson
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ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES
OF IST MARINE DIVISION HEADQUARTERS
BUILDING 1133
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The 1st Marine Division Headquarters, also
known as the “White House,” is a World War
II-era administrative building. Designed in Sep-
tember 1942 by the architectural firm Hunt,
Chambers, and Ellingwood, the two-story build-
ing is typical of the utilitarian and swiftly con-
structed temporary structures that sprang up in
response to wartime mobilization during World
War II. The rambling wood-frame building takes
the shape of two Swiss crosses connected via a
long, central fagade. A prominent porch spans
the principal elevation, connecting north and
south wings, and the rhythmic placement and
proportioning of window openings (2:1 ratio)
create a sense of geometric harmony on an oth-
erwise austere fagade. The majority of World
War II-era buildings at Camp Pendleton were of
a temporary nature, and the 1st Marine Division
Headquarters remains one of the few relatively

unaltered structures of this type on base. Lo-

cated in the Mainside area, it has served as the
primary administrative building at Camp Pend-
leton since its construction in 1943. Its surviving
architectural features include a sprawling shape,
raised pier-and-beam foundation, and wide nine-
bay porch.

The White House was an early and im-
portant structure in the development of the new
West Coast training facility. Its original purpose
was to serve as the headquarters building for all
Marine Corps divisions assigned to Camp Pend-
leton. By the end of World War II, the 3d, 4th,
and 5th Divisions, or fully one-half of the Ma-
rines who fought in the Pacific, used this building
as their command post. In 1946, General Alex-
ander Vandegrift, Commandant of the Marine
Corps, ordered the base to remain the center
of all Marine Corps activities on the West Coast
and designated the site as the permanent home
of the 1st Marine Division. The White House
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1st Marine Division Headquarters, Building 1133, August 2016.
Photo by the author

has been used continuously as the official West
Coast headquarters for that division ever since.

Two recent events had a profound influence
on the design and setting of the Marine Division
Command Post building: the Japanese attack on
Pearl Harbor in December 1941 and springtime
flooding near the Santa Margarita River in 1942.
Apprehension over the possibility of Japanese
raids led architects Myron B. Hunt, Harold C.
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Chambers, and E. L. Ellingwood to abandon a
prescribed military master plan for Camp Pend-
leton in favor of a deliberately random arrange-
ment of buildings. Dispersing structures across
the landscape and embedding a shield of vermic-
ulite, or lightweight concrete, under the roofing,
the architects intended to protect the military
installation from enemy raids by making the pat-

tern of bombing problematic and the spread of



Earliest known photo of Building 1133, taken shortly after construction, ca. 1943.
J. E. Haddock Scrapbook, MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

fire more difficult. Consequently, Hunt’s firm
discretely sited the headquarters building as a
stand-alone structure, removed from the clus-
ter of administration buildings that traditionally
marked the center of a base. Today, the 1st Ma-
rine Division Headquarters stands relatively iso-
lated compared to newer construction at Camp
Pendleton. Set back from one of the primary
roads on base, the building overlooks a vast pa-
rade ground and remains largely surrounded by
open space.

To counter the threat of seasonal weather,
the architectural firm raised the administrative
building on a pier-and-beam foundation. This
adaptation lifted the principal office space above
the threat of flooding due to heavy rains. In an

era when central air conditioning was not yet
commonplace, the design offered the additional
benefit of allowing the underside of the building
to breathe.

Adapting the design from standardized
U.S. Navy Bl-type barracks, Hunt, Chambers,
and Ellingwood devised plans that upgraded
architectural details and incorporated new ma-
terials to meet the particularities of function
and climate for the Marine Division Command
Post. Barracks were generally two-story frame
construction with the interior space partitioned
into offices, classrooms, and dormitories. With
a double Swiss cross floorplan, the White House
is more complex in its layout than standard

barracks; yet like those structures, the interior
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Building 1133, ca. mid-to-late 1950s.

Collection qutCoI H.J. L. Reid, USMC (Ret), MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

arrangement reflects the external logic of the
structure and creates circulation within. Double-
wide entrances at each end of the porch open
to a small entry hall with a wide stairway to the
second floor. These modest lobbies lead to a cen-
tral corridor system connecting all segments of
the building. On the first and second floors, as
well as in each side wing, openness is achieved
through long, narrow hallways flanked by a sin-
gle row of rectangular rooms on either side. The
second floor contains a few larger rooms, re-
served for the most important occupants of the
building. Otherwise, there is little to distinguish
any hierarchy of space throughout the structure.
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Embodying characteristics of Hunt, Cham-
bers, and Ellingwood’s temporary World War II
buildings, the White House displays few overt
stylistic features. It exhibits minimal surface or-
namentation and lacks skirting around the foun-
dation crawlspace. The vernacular aesthetic of
the structure is further expressed in the archi-
tects” near-symmetrical massing of form and in
their reliance on simple building materials such
as wood. The open railing, low gabled roof, and
wood sheathing further associate the building
with temporary structures erected during the
war mobilization years of the early 1940s. These

defining characteristics remained unchanged un-
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Top: first-floor plan of Building 1133. Bottom: second-floor plan of Building 1133.
ASM Affiliates, Carlsbad, CA
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This photograph of the 1st Marine Division Headquarters, taken in the 1970s or 1980s, shows the modern screen alterations made to

the porch during the 1960s.
Historical Photograph Collection, MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

til the 1960s, when a major renovation altered
the building’s exterior appearance. At that time,
the primary entrance, which the architects had
centered along the symmetrical front fagade and
accentuated with a “sign marker” or prominent
center bay, was enclosed and the center bank of
steps eliminated from the front porch. The porch
railing system also changed significantly as part
of this construction; the horizontal rails between
posts were replaced with a vertical screening de-
vice. Although typical of mid-century modern
architecture, the visual obstruction of the porch
and diversion of foot traffic to secondary side en-
trances nevertheless diminished the structure’s
original legibility of function and transparency
of design.

A second renovation project in 1983 aimed
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New millwork replaced the original in the interior hallways and
stairwells of the 1st Marine Division Headquarters.
ASM Aﬁ]iates, Carlsbad, CA



The porch railing of the 1st Marine Division Headquarters has
been restored to handrail height.
Photo by the author

to refresh the interior of the White House. This
undertaking involved laying carpet over the orig-
inal flooring and painting the walls a deep for-
est green color. In addition, many doors were
replaced with colonial-style raised panel units,
while ornamental oak millwork embellished
door trim, stairway facings, and walls to cre-
ate the impression of a wainscot. These deco-
rative elements—the Victorian-style millwork,
colonial-style doors, paint colors, and carpet-
ing—represent a significant departure from the
building’s minimalist wartime inception. More-

over, many areas feature suspended ceilings,

EAST ELEVATION (DEMOLITION)

WEST ELEVWATION (DEMOLITION)

Main elevation (West and East) of Building 1133.
ASM Aﬁ‘i’]iates, Carlsbad, CA
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which cover the original acoustic tile-clad ceil-
ings and reduce the overall height of corridors
and rooms.

Subsequent additions and updates involved
the replacement of wood windows with alumi-
num units, removal of original window sills and
trim, overlay of the original German lap siding
with fiberboard product, and enclosure of the
foundation-level crawl space with framed skirts.
A partial remodel of the front porch railing sys-
tem restored the height of the vertical screening
to handrail height, such that the veranda current-
ly contains alternating bays characterized by ver-
tical louvers and planter boxes. In addition, the
low-profile gable roof was updated with asphalt
shingles, although the gentle pitch and material
remain consistent with the original design of the
structure.

Today, the White House remains a tangi-
ble example of the growing presence of the Ma-
rine Corps on the West Coast during World War
II. Despite extensive surface modifications, the
floorplan and configuration of space at the Ist
Marine Division Headquarters has changed little
since its construction in 1943. The uniqueness of
its sprawling shape, color, wide porch, and fenes-
tration all combine to evoke a strong sense of time
and place. In 2011, a historic resources survey and
evaluation at Marine Corps Base Camp Pendleton

recommended the Marine Division Command
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Front entrance of the Marine Division Command Post showing

the blue diamond insignia of the 1st Marine Division. The first
shoulder patch to be approved during World War II, the blue dia-
mond insignia commemorates the division’s sacrifices and victory
in the Battle for Guadalcanal.

Photo by the author

Post building for eligibility with the National Reg-
ister of Historic Places for its significance as a rep-
resentative example of temporary military base
architecture from the World War Il-era.



MYRON H. HUNT
Myron H. Hunt (1868—1952) was one of the most
prominent Southern California architects of the
carly twentieth century. With a career spanning
five decades, he designed numerous well-known
California landmarks and upper-class homes using
an eclectic range of styles.

Born in Sunderland, Massachusetts, Hunt
spent his formative years in the Lakeview district
of Chicago, Illinois. He graduated from Lake View
High School and briefly attended Northwestern
University before advancing to the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology, where he earned a degree
in architecture in 1893. He then extended his edu-
cation with a three-year sojourn to Europe, where
he studied architectural antiquities. Upon his re-
turn to the United States, Hunt joined the Chicago
office of Shepley, Rutan, and Coolidge, a promi-
nent Boston-based architectural firm. During this
time, Hunt was chiefly involved in the design of ex-
pensive suburban homes, for which he called upon
Chicago architect Frank Lloyd Wright’s innovative
Prairie School aesthetic for inspiration.

In 1903, Hunt left behind a highly successtul
practice in Chicago and moved to Pasadena, Cal-
ifornia, to ease his wife’s suffering from tubercu-
losis. During the next 20 years, he maintained an
office in Los Angeles, where he worked both inde-
pendently and in partnership with fellow Midwest-
ern architect Elmer Grey (1872—1963). Among
Hunt’s best-known commissions of this period are
Henry Huntington’s estate (now the Huntington

Library, Art Collections, and Botanical Gardens)

Architect Myron H. Hunt (1868 —1952). This portrait was tak-
en by Master Studio, NY, in 1927.
PalosVerdes Library Local History Room Photograph Collection, Palos

Verdes Library District

in San Marino; the Rose Bowl Stadium in Pasa-
dena; the Ambassador Hotel in Los Angeles; and
the campus of Occidental College in Los Angeles.

Hunt formed a new partnership with archi-
tect Harold C. Chambers (1885—1971) in 1921.
A graduate of the Armour Institute of Technolo-
gy in Chicago, Chambers had worked as a junior
architect for the firm Hunt and Grey prior to its
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Designed one year before Myron Hunt’s retirement, the Beach Club at MCB Camp Pendleton demonstrates a return to the Cal-

ifornian style he had helped to foster. He intended the recreational facility to be sympathetic with the architectural styles of Las

Flores Adobe National Historic Landmark and Santa Margarita Ranch House National Historic Site.

MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

dissolution in 1912 and had maintained a close pro-
fessional relationship with Hunt. The pair operated
a successful firm, Hunt and Chambers, until Hunt’s
retirement in 1947. Their commissions included
public libraries in Pasadena, Redlands, Palos Verdes
Estates, and Santa Barbara.

After World War I, Hunt’s designs evolved
into a bold, personal style that he called “Califor-

nian,” an interpretative take on the Spanish Revival

style fusing historical and modern influences. The
Beach Club at Marine Corps Base Camp Pendle-
ton, completed in 1946, exemplifies the low gable
roof, long veranda, and irregular window and door
openings typical of his designs. An avid gardener,
Hunt felt that the style grew naturally out of the
landscape and culture of Southern California and
thus was more appropriate to the region than Eu-

ropean precedents. He also intended the Beach
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Club, in particular, to harmonize visually with the
historic architectural styles of the Santa Margarita
Ranch House complex and Las Flores Adobe locat-
ed nearby.

The 1st Marine Division Headquarters
building at Camp Pendleton is a strong example
of Hunt’s late work, which increasingly focused on
public sector projects during the lean years of the
Great Depression and World War II. Base planners
frequently involved civilian architects in military
design projects, and Hunt completed numerous
commissions for the U.S. Navy and Marine Corps
over the course of his career. With Chambers, he
developed site plans, buildings, roads, water sup-

ply, sewage, and utilities for several military instal-

lations. The pair hired E. L. Ellingwood to assist
with temporary construction projects during the
war mobilization years. In addition to serving as
the original architects for Camp Pendleton, Hunt
and his partners received commissions for Naval
Air Station North Island and Camp Callan in San
Diego; March Field in Riverside; and Camp White
in Medford, Oregon. Designed largely as tempo-
rary structures, many of the firm’s designs have
been destroyed or substantially altered since their
construction. At Camp Pendleton, the 1st Marine
Division Headquarters building remains as the only
known example of Hunt’s military base design

work to be completed during the war.
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ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES
OF THE SANTA MARGARITA RANCH
HOUSE NATIONAL HISTORIC SITE

€9)

Among the oldest structures on the grounds of
present-day Camp Pendleton are a cluster of
adobe buildings belonging to the historic Ran-
cho Santa Margarita y Las Flores, an expansive
tract of ranch land whose origins date to the
first quarter of the nineteenth century. Located
at the corner of Vandegrift Boulevard and Basi-
lone Road, the property includes the main resi-
dence and outbuildings now known as the Ranch
House, the Bunkhouse Museum, and the Ranch
House Chapel.The Santa Margarita Ranch House
complex, often referred to simply as the “Ranch
House,” features adobe-and-timber construction
common to Spanish colonial architecture in ear-
ly California. Placed on the National Register of
Historic Places in 1971, the site exudes historical
charm with mission-style architectural features

including wood-framed ceilings, tiled roofs, cov-

ered porches, and plastered walls constructed
from locally sourced sun-dried brick.'
Constructed between approximately 1810
and 1827, the Santa Margarita ranch house
building initially formed one of six ranchos pro-
viding the Spanish clergy at Mission San Luis Rey
with tallow and hides, which could be traded for
European goods, such as printed pottery. In an
1827 inventory of the estancia, or outpost, Fa-
ther Antonio Peyri observed a modest two-room

structure measuring 44 feet by 36 feet with one

' The National Register of Historic Places is the federal govern-
ment’s official list of cultural resources that have been identified
as being worthy of preservation. Authorized under the National
Historic Preservation Act of 1966, it is part of a nation-wide pro-
gram to coordinate public and private efforts to identify, evalu-

ate, and protect historic sites in the United States.
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door, a tile roof, and a walled enclosure protect-

ing a garden and a Vineyard:

To the North at a distance of one
league and a half [about four miles]
the mission was a place with a house
and a garden, and near the beginnings
of the sierra, a vineyard. The land is
cultivated and wheat, corn, beans,
and barley are raised. The fields are
irrigated by means of water from the
sierra, which, though not plentiful,

assures some Crops. 2

Today, the Ranch House grounds contrib-
ute significantly to its historical appeal. Built
atop a rocky knoll, the adobe buildings possess a
commanding view of the picturesque Santa Mar-
garita River valley.

After Mexico gained independence from
Spain in 1821 and Alta California became a pos-

session of the Mexican government, the San-

ta Margarita Ranch House complex flourished

as one of the largest and most successful cattle Aerial view of the Santa Margarita Ranch House.
Camp Pendleton Historical Society

* Stephen D. Mikesell and Stephen R. Wee, National Register Nom-
ination: Santa Margarita Ranch House (Washington, DC: National
Parks Service, 1994), 3, 25.
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Established in 1798, nearly 30 years after Spanish explorer Gaspar de Portola and his expeditionary force arrived in Alta California,

Mission San Luis Rey facilitated Spanish claim-staking in the region through the colonization of indigenous populations. Franciscan

priests preached to the Luisefio people, whose villages dotted nearby valleys, streams, and coasts, and taught them agricultural skills
to benefit the Spanish Crown. This oil painting, created by artist Christian Jérgensen (1860—1935) depicts Mission San Luis Rey as it

appeared in 1910.
The Bancroft Library, University of California Berkeley

ranches in the region.3 In an effort to disperse

the enormous wealth and power that had long

*While a Spanish colony, the province of Alta California encom-
passed the present-day states of California, Nevada, and Utah,
as well as parts of four additional states. The Mexican Consti-
tution of 1824 designated this area as Alta California Territory,
with Monterey as the capital. The United States occupied much
of the area during and following the Mexican-American War and
the state of California was formally organized at a constitutional
convention held in Monterey in late 1849.

been the exclusive purview of the Franciscan
clergy, the new Mexican leadership opened the
frontier with more liberal trade practices and
commenced secularizing the California mission
system, including Mission San Luis Rey. Among
the beneficiaries of this redistribution process
were Andres and Pio Pico of San Diego. Mem-
bers of the diputacion, or local legislative body
in Alta California, the Pico brothers were fore-

most proponents of the liberal movement and
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influential leaders in the community. Following
the revolution in 1821, Pio, the elder brother,
served as one of two commissioners appointed
by Governor Jose Figueroa during the Mexican
secularization process to take possession of Mis-
sion San Luis Rey and later served as mission ad-
ministrator.*

Pio Pico moved into the old mission build-
ing and began erecting for his family a suitably
aristocratic abode, the Santa Margarita Ranch
House, between 1842 and 1844. Built at or near
the site of the older adobe structure, the new
residence consisted of a gable-roofed one-and-
a-half story main block with an open interior
court. The structure was characterized by thick
adobe brick walls and giant hand-cut ceiling
timbers supporting a heavy, fired clay tile roof
and covered porches or corredors. A free-standing
kitchen wing was oriented at an approximate
right angle to the larger structure.

An ensuing cattle boom greatly increased
their fortunes, and the Pico brothers added to
their land holdings over the next decade. In
1844, the Picos acquired an adjoining parcel at

Las Flores, the site of another historic estancia

* Although the law of secularization stated that former mission
land would transfer to native populations, the terrain instead
came under the control of various secular administrators, who
awarded large parcels of land to prominent Californio citizens

sympathctic to Mexican governance.
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HON. PIO PICO

GOVERNOR JANUARY, 1837, TO f;:ll‘l'r, LT e
FERRUANY, ¥5T0 “poanE = = 4.

Pio de Jesus Pico IV (1801-94) was a prominent Californio
rancher and politician in the Mexican government from 1828 to
1848, when California became part of the United States. Fol-
lowing the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo, Pico became a private
American citizen, businessman, and later served on the Los An-
geles City Council.

Whittier Museum, Whittier, CA

near the village of San Onofre.” The combined
land grant became known as the Rancho Santa
Margarita y Las Flores.

In 1845, Pio Pico entered office as the last

* Rancho San Onofre y Santa Margarita was the likely original

name of the Picos’ land.



Surveyor and architect Jasper O’Farrell (1817-75) delincated the boundaries of Rancho Santa Mar-
garita in 1845.
The Bancroft Library, University of California Berkeley
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Mexican governor of Alta California prior to
the Mexican-American War. The arrival of Army
Brigadier General Stephen W. Kearny the follow-
ing year cut short Pico’s term in office, and the
elder brother fled to Mexico. Remaining in Cal-
ifornia, Pio’s brother Andrés served as a general
in the Mexican Army, in which capacity he fought
General Kearny at the Battle of San Pasqual in
1846. Remarkably, the ranch remained intact
during these tumultuous years, which resulted
in the transfer of California sovereignty to the
United States. Both brothers returned to the es-
tate after the war, but neither stayed long; Pio
relocated to Los Angeles, and Andrés left the re-
gion in pursuit of gold in Northern California.

The Rancho Santa Margarita y Las Flores
remained in the Pico family until the 1860s, when
the brothers trasnferred their shares to their En-
glish-born brother-in-law John Forster to avoid
foreclosure. Californios were swiftly becoming
a minority and facing diminished political pow-
er and social status under U.S. governance. Re-
versals in the livestock trade and the high costs
of defending Mexican-issued land grants added
further to the challenges facing the Pico broth-
ers. Already in 1862, Andrés Pico found himself
deeply in debt and deeded his portion of the
ranch to Pio. A severe drought in 1863 and 1864
decimated the livestock, and the elder Pico was

forced to sell as well.®

¢ Although Pio Pico offered the mortgage brokers Picche and
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Like many of the Anglo merchants who
immigrated to Alta California well before the
gold rush, Forster embraced Spanish language
and customs and married into a prominent
Hispanic family. A successful businessman, For-
ster acquired multiple land grants during Pio
Pico’s tenure as governor and became a wealthy
ranchero during the cattle boom. Even before
adding Santa Margarita to his holdings, Forster
had amassed more than 100,000 acres headquar-
tered at the old Mission San Juan Capistrano and
assumed the title “Don.”

Rains in late 1864 and early 1865 brought
relief from the drought that had forced Pico to
sell the ranch, and Forster began making im-
provements to the property almost immediately.
The renovation campaign produced a one-and-a-
half story adobe main block with a series of one-

story wings enclosing a central courtyard.8 By

Boyerque a deed to the property and 5,000 head of cattle as pay-
ment, the French entreprencurs refused. Thus, when his brother-
in-law John Forster offered $14,000 in exchange for the deed to
the ranch, the elder Pico accepted.

7 Forster moved from Capistrano to Las Flores in 1864. He at-
tempted to improve his cattle holdings, but his aspirations were
stymied by the Picos, who claimed that Forster had purchased
only half of the ranch. Andrés purported still to own his original
parcel of the estate, and he presented a map as part of his court
battle. Forster brought the claim to court, and after an extended
trial, the San Diego District Court decided in Forster’s favor.

® The historical record is unclear on the exact floorplan of the
Santa Margarita Ranch House at the time Forster acquired the
property. As a result, it is difficult to distinguish which renova-
tions were completed as part of Pio Pico’s 1840s construction

and which emerged through Forster’s subsequent projects.



The Santa Margarita Ranch House, ca. 1880. The vineyard cov-
ered 12 acres, while the orchard spanned roughly 5 acres and
supported 100 apple and 80 peach trees.

Ca]g'form'a History Section Picture Catalog, Ca]ifomia State Library

John “Don Juan” Forster (1815—81) rose from modest circum-
stances in Liverpool, England, to become one of the largest land-
owners in California. He married Ysidora Pico, sister of Pio and
Andrés Pico, in 1837.

San Juan Capistrano Historical Society

The bunkhouse that lies to the south of the Ranch House proba-
bly began construction during John Forster’s ownership between
1865 and 1870. The building appears in several nineteenth-
century photographs, plastered and roofed in tile.

Collection (yrjemme Baumgartner Jr., MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

the 1870s, the Ranch House included corredors
on the west and south sides of the main block,
the south side of the south wing, and surround-
ing the courtyard. As was typical in adobe con-
struction in nineteenth-century California, walls
exposed to external elements like sun and rain
were originally covered with lime plaster, while
interior walls employed a covering of earthen
plaster and limewash. In addition, Forster pur-
chased tile from the Mission San Juan Capistra-
no, his former residence, as roofing material for
the new construction. He built a retaining wall
on the west side of the building, added a corral
and two barns, a winery and a wine cellar, im-
proved the orchards, and established new fields
for cultivation.

The Rancho Santa Margarita y Las Flores
gained renown as a destination for travelers, who

remarked on the Forster family’s lavish hospital-
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FORSTER CITY

John Forster encountered financial difficulties in
the latter part of the nineteenth century, when
Southern California saw a shift away from tra-
ditional ranching with large cattle herds and the
Spanish padrone lifestyle to smaller farming op-
erations and fenced properties. By the 1870s,
he was looking for a way to profit on the ranch
through real estate development. Hoping to em-
ulate the success of Los Angeles ranchers like
Abel Stearns, Forster planned to sell off ranch
land and create a housing subdivision. By 1880,
the town of Forster City could boast of a general
store, post office, blacksmith shop, hotel, lum-
ber yard, and livery stable. In time, however, the

venture failed.

ity. Recounting a conversation he had had with
Forster’s son Marco, travel author Charles B.
Nordhoft described the reception one could ex-

pect to receive at the Ranch House:

In those days, said Don Marco For-
ster, men used to travel from San Di-
ego to Monterey and never spend a
cent of money. When night came, you
stopped at the nearest house. After
supper, you were shown your room.
In the morning, a clean shirt was at
your bedside; and if you were known

to the family, it was customary to
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place near the bed, on the table, also a
sum of money, a hundred or two hun-
dred dollars, from which the visitor,

if he needed it, was expected to help

himself.’

The ranch also maintained during this pe-
riod a relatively large workforce of between 30
and 50 people, many of them servants. Faced
with declines in the market, loss of livestock to
drought, and high taxes on unimproved land,
Forster sought out mortgages with high interest
rates to sustain the customary ranchero lifestyle
and to prevent foreclosure. Following Forster’s
death in 1882, his heirs sold the ranch to settle
the estate.

In the final decades of the nineteenth cen-
tury, the Rancho Santa Margarita y Las Flores
became one of the largest and most prosperous
ranches in California under the enduring part-
nership of James C. Flood and Richard O’Neill.
In addition to the 133,000 acres at Santa Mar-
garita y Las Flores, they purchased two neigh-
boring ranches in Orange County: Mission Viejo
and Trabuco. At its peak, the ranch exceeded
205,000 acres, extending from Oceanside to
Orange County, and became known simply as

the Santa Margarita Ranch.

° Charles Nordhoff, California: For Health, Pleasure, and Resi-
dence—A Book for Travelers and Settlers (New York: Harper & Broth-
ers, 1873), 243.



Oil painting of the Santa Margarita Ranch House, artist unknown.
MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

Whereas Flood had provided the majori-
ty of the purchase price for the ranch, O’Neill
assumed responsibility over the day-to-day op-
erations. Shortly after the O’Neill family moved
into the old Ranch House, the California South-
ern Railroad completed a line across the ranch.
With tracks located immediately north of the
Ranch House, long cattle drives to markets in

Los Angeles and San Diego became a relic of the

past. With new transportation methods came
new infrastructure requirements, and O’Neill
constructed a small rail station, warehouses,
stock pens, and loading platforms in several plac-
es throughout the estate. By 1885, he erected a
windmill and pump house directly behind the
corral. He also ceased the commercial produc-
tion of wine and converted the winery building

into a blacksmith, carpenter, and tool shop.
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Born in Mitchelstown, County Cork, Ireland, Richard O’Neill
(1824-1910) met James Flood on a ship en route to the United

States. The two men formed a lasting friendship and prosperous

partnership that included the vast ranching operations at Rancho
Santa Margarita y Las Flores. As ranch manager, O’Neill devoted
a portion of his yearly profits to Flood to purchase one-half inter-
est in the venture. He became a full partner by 1906.

San Juan Capistrano Historical Society

By the turn of the century, the Santa Mar-
garita Ranch House had been altered from its
1870s configuration. It is not clear whether the
Floods or the O’Neills were responsible for the
change in floorplan, or whether Forster had
completed some additional remodeling prior to

his death. As indicated by an architectural model
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The adobe portion of the building that is now used as a chapel
was constructed by John Forster and likely used as a winery. This
photograph, taken during the Flood-O’Neill period, shows the
Ranch House building after it had been converted to a blacksmith
shop.

Collection qf]erome Baumgartner Jr., MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

of the residence from this period, the building
contained corredors on the west side of the main
block and the south and north sides of the south
wing, all covered in clay roofing tiles. The corre-
dors on the remaining three sides of the court-
yard and on the south side of the main block
were roofed in cedar shingles, suggesting that the
corredors denote two distinct construction cam-
paigns. The model also reveals a second-story ad-
dition near the southwest corner of the house,
which may have served as quarters for the cook,
and the enclosure of a portion of the south portal
on the kitchen wing,

After O’Neill passed away in 1910, the
Flood-O’Neill partnership continued under the

guidance of their sons James C. Flood Jr. and



John Jay Baumgartner (1865—1946), a painter and architectural delineator who lived and worked in California, was related to the
O’Neill family by marriage. A frequent visitor to the ranch houses at Santa Margarita and Las Flores, Baumgartner produced a hand-
drawn floor plan and a scale model of the Santa Margarita Ranch House, ca. 1900.

Collection (y(]emme Baumgartner Jr., MCB Camp Pendleton Archives
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Jerome O’Neill. A major flood on 30 January
1916 precipitated significant updates to the San-
ta Margarita Ranch House. The natural disaster
washed out the railroad bed and damaged the
bunkhouse, shops, barns, and corral. The Ranch
House, perched on a small knoll, fortunately did
not sustain significant damage. After the floodwa-
ters subsided, Jerome O’Neill undertook major
construction to repair the damaged outbuildings
and to complete an extensive remodeling of the
Ranch House and bunkhouse.

Photographs from this period indicate
that O’Neill made substantial additions at the
northeast, southeast, and southwest corners of
the house. Each expansion is characterized by a
different construction scheme, although all have
many features in common with respect to con-
crete detailing, millwork, and finishes. Whereas
the southeast corner has a reinforced concrete
frame with hollow clay infill, the main level ad-
dition at the northeast corner is constructed en-
tirely of structural hollow clay tile. Additions to
the northeast and southeast are two stories, with
basements accessed at ground level below main
level rooms. The addition at the southwest cor-
ner infills the space once occupied by the hallway
on the south end of the main block.

Because the old roof had begun to leak by
1915, O’Neill reframed and replaced the roof,
adapting roof lines to incorporate new additions.

As part of this update, the stairs to the attic were
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removed and the upper floor ceased to be used as
a living space. The installation of interior door-
ways established new traffic patterns throughout
the house, as it became possible for the first time
to pass from room to room without accessing the
corredors of the courtyard and patio. With this
reconfiguration of the house, the courtyard en-
trance on the north fagcade came to serve as the
primary entrance to the home. The first bathtub
also was reportedly installed in 1916, although
the zinc tub had to be filled and emptied by hand,
as indoor plumbing was not installed until ap-
proximately 1928.The house was equipped with
its first electrical system at this time as well.

Jerome O’Neill oversaw the cattle ranch-
ing enterprise until his death in 1926, at which
time the estate went to an assortment of heirs
in both families. The property lacked a manag-
er with the interest and expertise required to
remain in the agricultural business, so the vast
ranch was divided between the O’ Neills, Floods,
and Baumgartners (who had married into the
O’Neill family) in 1938. The Flood descendants
assumed the southern portion, and the northern
portion split into two parts going to the O’Neill
and Baumgartner families, respectively.

With the Marine Corps’ purchase of the
ranch in 1942, the Santa Margarita Ranch House
became an enormous construction site. Work-
ing around the clock, laborers developed the

landscape to provide airstrips, administration



At the entryway to the courtyard on the north side of the build-

ing, the doors were replaced with a more decorative set to reflect
the increasing importance of this entryway in the reconfigured
house.

Photo by the author

buildings, and housing for the new military base.
Alterations to the Ranch House complex took
immediate effect. Numerous buildings associat-
ed with the ranch operation were demolished to
make way for new construction necessary to the
development of the base. By September 1942,
only the adobe buildings—the Ranch House,
bunkhouse, blacksmith shop, and outhouse—
had not been demolished.

Base architects put forward two plans for
redevelopment and reuse of the Santa Margarita
Ranch House. The first plan, devised by Major
General Clayton B. Vogel, proposed substantial
alteration of the existing building with the addi-

tion of a wing enclosing a second courtyard. The

A new corredor was constructed in 1916 to create a covered
walkway along the remodeled southwest fagade. In addition, many
new doors were added to connect interior rooms, thereby elimi-
nating the need to use the corredors to move from room to room.
Historic American Buildings Survey, Library of Congress Prints and Pho-
tographs Division, courtesy zszenr)/ E Withey

Few changes occurred on the property between Jerome O’Neill’s
1916 remodeling project and the Marine Corps acquisition of the
Santa Margarita Ranch House in 1942. With the transformation
of the ranch to a military base during World War I, the Marine
Corps razed many of the outbuildings surrounding the Ranch
House.

Progress Edition, 1943, MCB Camp Pendleton Archives
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Plan of the Santa Margarita Ranch House, 1944.
MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

second plan, developed by California architects
Myron Hunt and Harold C. Chambers, called for
several minor changes directed to converting the
old Ranch House into an officers’ club. Detailed
in a plan drawn by the architects in 1942, the
proposed modifications focused on the south and

east wings of the building and consisted of the
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addition of an arched opening between the din-
ing room and tap room, a reconfigured doorway
featuring banco, or bench, seating between the
tap room and vestibule, and the installation of
new casework. As part of this remodel, the archi-
tects designated a large kitchen with a scullery
and pantry, from which the dining room could be
directly accessed, as well as a coffee room with
its own kitchenette. Hunt and Chambers further
incorporated a lavatory and bathroom, which
could be accessed from corredors on the east and
south of the courtyard.

The Marine Corps secured funding and ad-
opted the Hunt/Chambers plan to refurbish and
adapt the Ranch House to suit its new purpose;
however, when word of the extensive renovation
leaked in August 1942, the California Historical
Society intervened with an appeal to General Jo-
seph C. Fegan to preserve the historical integrity
of the Santa Margarita Ranch House complex.
President Franklin D. Roosevelt also weighed in
on the planned changes. While touring the Ranch
House during his visit to base for the dedication
ceremony on 25 September 1942, Roosevelt ex-
pressed his admiration for the historical struc-
ture and encouraged Brigadier General Fegan to
adopt a policy of preservation and restoration.
According to Fegan, the president instructed
“that all restoration must proceed along histor-
ical lines; that as much of the old furniture as
possible should be retained and re-procured; that
the gardens, bunk house [sic] and winery should



Gen Joseph C. Fegan commissioned light fixtures for the corredors, main hall, and formal living spaces and began to assemble a col-

lection of antiques to use as furnishings, such as the Empire-style sofa and armchairs in the sala, or reception room, pictured above.

Photo by the author

be restored, and that the landscaping be carried

out at points indicated by him.”"

Under the careful watch of California Gov-

'” Joseph Fegan, letter dated February 1943, as quoted in Milford
Wayne Donaldson, Santa Margarita Ranch: United States Marine
Corps Base Camp Joseph H. Pendleton (San Diego, CA: Office of His-
toric Preservation, 1998), 36.

ernor Culbert L. Olson and the California His-
torical Society, the Marine Corps restored and
modernized the Santa Margarita Ranch House.
As part of this construction, the southeast corner
of the house was slightly reconfigured to support
the officers’ club function. Between 1942 and
1946, a bar was installed in the room adjacent

to the large dining room. Both the kitchen and
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The Santa Margarita Ranch House served briefly as an officers’ club in the 1940s. The meat hooks on the wall of the barroom recall its

prior iteration as a cattle ranch, when the floor was slanted to drain blood dripping from freshly cut meat.

Historical Photograph Collection, MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

a buggy shed, which had previously not been at-
tached to the house, were incorporated into the
main structure. New doorways created a foyer,
while the adobe wall on the north side of the
main block was partially demolished, and a cast-

in-place concrete wall was installed to stabilize
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the remaining adobe. Modern heating, plumb-
ing, and electrical systems also were installed
during this period. The arcaded walk along the
south wall of the northeast corner was added
sometime after the Marine Corps acquired the

property as well.



The arbor entrance of the Ranch House has a bell that was once used at the Las Flores estancia. Cast in 1828 and brought to the small

mission by Spanish priests from Mission San Luis Rey, the bell was donated to the Marine Corps by officials of the railway station at

San Juan Capistrano, where it had hung since 1887. In 1943, the general manager of the Santa Fe Railway’s Coast Lines, E. E. McCarty,

presented the bell to Camp Pendleton.
Photo by the author

In addition, the bunkhouse underwent re-
pairs and the winery was converted into a chap-
el as part of this modernization and restoration
effort. Updated for use as quarters for non-
commissioned officers, the bunkhouse remodel

included the installation of a new tile roof. In

1949, the wooden corredor posts were replaced
with concrete columns. In 1965, the Marine
Corps established a museum in the building. The
winery, meanwhile, had already been converted
into a blacksmith shop during the O’Neill stew-
ardship. The Marine Corps repaired the struc-
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The first commanding general to reside in the
house was Major General Graves B. Erskine, who
moved in with his family in July 1947. His wife,
Peg, was responsible for two murals in the house.
She painted the first herself. The second, painted by
Master Sergeant Russ Vickers during World War I
when the building served as an officers’ club, nos-
talgically depicted an Old West scene of San Fran-
cisco’s Barbary Coast during the mid-nineteenth
century. A later resident of the Ranch House ob-
jected to the “lady of the evening” who was “clearly
advertising her wares” in the dining room mural.
Although the vignette was modified to depict the
offending window with closed shades, the mural
was subsequently covered in target paper and then
plastered. In 1962, Mrs. John C. Munn uncovered
Vicker’s mural, which remains visible today in the

vestibule near the southeast corner of the house.

Mural of the Barbary Coast of San Francisco by MSgt Russ
Vickers. Commissioned by Graves B. Erskine’s wife, the mu-
ral was considered too risqué by a later resident of the Ranch
House. Vickers, a Marine combat artist during the Korean
War, later worked as a technical illustrator for the aerospace
industry in Los Angeles. Painting Western scenes in his spare
time, he developed a naturalistic style. Several of his paintings
appear in the film Chisum (1970) starring John Wayne.

Photo by the author

ture for use as a chapel for the Marine Corps
Women Reserves in 1943. They repaired ado-
be walls and added a vestry, arcaded corredor,
and bell tower framed in wood and stucco
to emulate adobe. The funding for the latter
project came primarily from private donations,
including money given by the O’Neill fami-
ly, General Fegan, and the widow of James L.
Flood.

The Marine Corps ceased using the Santa

Margarita Ranch House as an officers’ club in
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1946. As the building became quarters for the
commanding general at Camp Pendleton the fol-
lowing year, the historical structure underwent
further adaptation to suit this new purpose. Al-
terations included the installation of a central
heating system, updating the electrical system,
renovating existing bathroom facilities, and con-
verting the kitchenette in the south wing to an
entry foyer. New windows and doors accom-
panied these changes, as did the installation of

casework in closets. To accommodate the new



central heating system, the scullery was convert-
ed into a mechanical room.

Additional remodeling to update the
kitchen and all of the bathrooms in the gener-
al’s quarters has occurred since the 1950s. In
1951, then-resident of the Ranch House General
Clifton B. Cates ordered that “no modification
of this building, its immediate surroundings, or
out-buildings, shall be made which might pos-
sibly affect its architecture or vary its charac-
ter.”!" Since then, most of the changes fall under
maintenance or have concentrated in portions of
the building erected in 1916 to leave the ado-
be portions historically intact. It has undergone
building systems upgrades, and facilities have
generally been additive, preserving the signifi-
cant historical fabric of the structure. Following
a flood in 1993, during which the chapel sus-
tained significant damage but the Ranch House
was only minimally impacted, the Marine Corps
constructed a levee to the north and east of the
Santa Margarita Ranch House complex.

Today, the Santa Margarita Ranch House,
Bunkhouse Museum, and chapel form the Ranch
House National Historic Site. A total of 36 base
commanders lived in the house between 1947
and October 2007. All had distinguished careers.
Currently unoccupied, the Ranch House is be-

ing maintained in its present state while await-

""Witty and Morgan, Marines of the Margarita, 55.

WOMENS RESERVE

Camp JoseEPH H,
OCEANSIDELC

As the oldest building at the Santa Margarita Ranch House com-
plex, the Ranch House chapel operated as a winery, a black-
smith’s shop, and as a home for the Pico family during the course
of its long history. When the first women Marine reservists ar-
rived at Camp Pendleton in 1943, the structure was renovated
as a chapel and opened primarily for their use. Today, the Ranch
House chapel holds weekly services and hosts weddings and oth-
er special events.

Official U.S. Marine Corps photo

ing funding for an extensive upgrade project in
2018 to comply with earthquake stabilization re-
quirements. Pending this essential preservation
work, the historic Santa Margarita Ranch House
will continue to serve the Marine Corps and
surrounding community as a multiuse gathering
place equipped with meeting rooms, exhibition
space, and comfortable lodging for Camp Pend-

leton’s distinguished guests.
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Mrs. Sandi Boomer, wife of LtGen Walter E. Boomer, oversaw a The fountain in the courtyard was donated by the only Marine
redesign of the kitchen during her residency in the Ranch House. Corps reservist to reside in the building, MajGen Hugh W. Hardy.
Photo b)/ the author Oﬁq'cial U.S. Marine Corps photo, courtesy qup] Shannon E. McMillan

Southern entrance to the Santa Margarita Ranch House as it appears today.

Photo by the author
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ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES
OF THE LAS FLORES ADOBE
NATIONAL HISTORIC LANDMARK
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Largely undisturbed by subsequent development
of the Marine Corps base, the Las Flores Ado-
be site remains one of only a few in the region
that represents a microcosm of Southern Cali-
fornia history. Archacological and historical evi-
dence in the vicinity indicates nearly 2,000 years
of occupation by Native American tribes prior
to the arrival of Franciscan missionaries in the
eighteenth century. When exactly Spanish priests
from Mission San Luis Rey began to use the lands
at Las Flores for farming and raising sheep re-
mains unknown; however, the missionaries were
established enough by April 1810 to complain to
Comandante Francisco Ruiz of San Diego that
Spanish troops were occupying one of their pas-
tures.

After Mexico gained independence from
Spain, the old mission buildings were the site of

the Battle of Las Flores. In 1838, rival politicians

Carlos Antonio Carrillo and Juan Bautista Alvara-
do clashed over the appointment of a provisional
governor of California. Both mounted armies of
approximately 200 men, and Carrillo retired to
the Las Flores estancia or outpost where he used
an old adobe building as a barracks and a cor-
ral as a fort. A standoft ensued, and only after
cannon shots were fired did the two leaders and
their representatives agree to a détente. On 23
April 1838, the two sides signed a treaty grant-
ing the power of government to Alvarado.
During the Mexican period, a decree of
secularization broke up the large land holdings
of Spanish missions, including Mission San Luis
Rey. The Mexican government deeded 20,000
acres of land to Native Americans residing near
the former Las Flores estancia. Belonging com-
munally to 32 Luisefio families, the site became

a pueblo libre or free Village called Ushmai. Broth-

AN



ers Andrés and Pio Pico, who owned the adja-
cent Santa Margarita ranch, purchased the parcel
from the Luisenos in 1844."

Following the Mexican-American War and
the transfer of California to U.S. governance,
the Picos sold the Rancho Santa Margarita y
Las Flores to their brother-in-law, John For-
ster. In 1867, Forster gave a parcel of the ranch
at Las Flores to his son, Marco A. Forster, to
construct Las Flores Adobe as a home for his
family.” The structure is one of the few authen-
tic nineteenth-century, two-story adobe ranch

houses combining the Hacienda and Monterey

"This transaction was not without controversy. In February 1840,
Pio Pico reported that he had turned over the property at Las
Flores to a native man, Jose Manuel, but by May of that year, Fa-
ther Francisco Ibarra of San Luis Rey wrote to another priest that
Las Flores had become a seraglio for the Pico family. The indige-
nous inhabitants denounced Pio Pico and asked the government
to intervene to force him to vacate any dwellings and remove
his cattle from the territory. Following American occupation and
subsequent transition of governmental power, the Pico brothers
filed a petition with the U.S. Land Commission claiming posses-
sion of the land and buildings at Las Flores. On 24 April 1855,
the board confirmed ownership rights for the Pico brothers, and
after a series of appeals during the next decade, the Rancho Santa
Margarita y Las Flores was legally established as belonging to the
Pico family.

* Historical lore maintains that John Forster gave the Las Flores
property to his son as a wedding gift; however, Marco was already
with his wife when he began building their home in 1867. In ad-
dition, their first child was born four years earlier, in 1863, when
Marco was 23 years old. Whether the elder Forster allowed Mar-
co to live and build a home on his estate due to local custom or
convenience, the arrangement likely was not a wedding gift. The
author wishes to thank Faye Jonason, museum director at MCB
Camp Pendleton, for her insights and expertise on this topic.
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Portrait of Marco A. Forster (1893—1904). John Forster’s sons
took an active role in the daily operations of the ranch. His oldest
son, Marco, led the rodeos and managed the farm at Las Flores.
Chico and Juan Jr. managed the vaqueros leading the cattle
drives, while Thomas handled the sheep business. In 1867, Marco
Forster began construction on the Ranch House at Las Flores,
where he would reside with his wife and children until 1882.

Ancestry.com

Colonial styles, which are unique to California.
Marked by arcaded silhouettes, spindled win-
dow grills, and heavy wooden colonial doors,
the Hacienda style celebrates natural materials
of the Southwest and relies on decorative tiling
and an earthy color palette. Used primarily for

residential properties, the Monterey Colonial



An estancia, or mission outpost, was established near the coast at the mouth of Las Flores Creck sometime before 1827. Constructed
of adobe, the buildings consisted of a residence, granaries, and a chapel arranged around a central courtyard.
Sketch by H. M.T. Powell, March 1850, MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

Las Flores Adobe National Historic Landmark.
Official U.S. Marine Corps photo
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Plan of first floor from east elevation, including detail of foundation and walls.

Plans by Jake Barrow, National Park Service (Ret)

style emerged from early Californians’ desire
to merge local Spanish influences with Colonial
designs from the East Coast. Developed in the
early part of the eighteenth century, the Monte-
rey style grew in popularity between 1930 and
1950. Architecture in this style typically features

two stories with continuous surrounding porch-
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es on both levels, a hipped roof, and adobe walls.

Of the numerous buildings that originally
comprised the complex, only Las Flores Ado-
be and the Carriage House survive. The most
prominent component of Las Flores Adobe is
the Monterey Colonial block, a two-story, one-

room-deep, hipped-roof structure. Characterized
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Plan of first and second floors from west, south, and north elevations.

Plans by Jake Barrow, National Park Service (Ret)

by thick adobe walls that taper as they ascend,
the building is laid out around a central hall-
way, or zaguan, that opens onto the porch of the
Hacienda wing. High-style porches originally
adorned the front and rear, but were later re-
placed by a porch wrapping the entirety of the
block; a covered balcony also was added on the

second level facing the Pacific Ocean. The Ha-

cienda block is the long, single-story portion
connecting the Monterey block of Las Flores
Adobe and the Carriage House. Mostly utilitar-
ian, the low, gable-roofed structure is one room
deep and features a continuous shed-roof corre-
dor, or covered porch. The Carriage House,
also gable-roofed, is located at the north end of
the Hacienda block and oriented parallel to the
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The Magee family resided at Las Flores Adobe ranch house be-
tween 1888 and 1968, at which time the Marine Corps assumed
management of the property. During their occupancy, the Mag-

ees converted the cattle ranch operation into a large lima bean
farm, which they maintained from the early 1900s until mid-
century. This photograph, taken in 1938, shows the wedding an-
nouncement dinner for Mrs. Jane Magee Stauss.
MCB Camp Pendleton Archives, courtesy (yrBob Stauss
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Monterey block so that the three buildings form
a U-shape. Early in its history, a hedgerow on the
east side of the property completed the court-
yard enclosure.

Twenty years later, in 1888, Las Flores Ado-
be passed out of the Pico/Forster family to new
owners, who in turn engaged the Magee family
to manage the property. The Magees convert-
ed the cattle ranch operation into a large lima
bean farm, which they maintained from the early
1900s until mid-century. In 1942, the Santa Mar-
garita Ranch was absorbed into the new Camp
Pendleton Marine Corps base. The Magees were
given lifetime occupancy and continued living at
the ranch until the last family member died in
1968, at which time the Marine Corps assumed
management of the property.

The U.S. government’s development of a
military base on the former ranch land altered
its primary usage and removed maintenance
incentives and proprietary interests from local
residents, resulting in very expedient and neg-
ative alterations to the site. Many of the adobe
buildings were destroyed over time, as the gen-
eral impression incorrectly assumed that they
were structurally unsuitable for contemporary
use. By 1968, the Las Flores Adobe and sur-
rounding buildings were in an advanced state

of disrepair. Threatened with demolition due



Las Flores Adobe, ca. 1935. Renovations made to the ranch house around 1918 enclosed the two-story porch and extended the corre-

dor the entire length of the Hacienda block.
MCB Camp Pendleton Archives, courtesy @FBob Stauss

to its poor condition, the property inspired lo-
cal citizens to mobilize in a preservation cam-
paign. In 1968, Las Flores Adobe was placed
on the National Register of Historic Places

and designated a National Historic Landmark.?

As the buildings at Las Flores Adobe had
not been used since the last resident departed in
the 1960s, the Marine Corps sought a tenant to
help maintain the house and surrounding prop-
erty. In 1974, the Marines leased Las Flores to

3 The National Historic Landmark designation is made by the sec-
retary of the interior and is reserved for historical sites that possess
exceptional value in illustrating the heritage of the United States.
This designation is the highest level of federal recognition available

for cultural resources. Whereas the nation’s National Register of
Historic Places includes more than 85,000 sites, the National His-
toric Landmark program recognizes only about 2,500 buildings,
objects, or sites as having cultural heritage of national importance.
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The Las Flores Adobe complex from the southeast, ca. 2008.
MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

the Boy Scouts of America, who carried out
extensive modifications to the Carriage House.
The remodeling project involved the complete
removal of the structure’s roof covering, large
doors, and shed additions. The Boy Scouts also
installed a concrete beam atop the adobe walls,
increasing their height by approximately eight
inches, and reframed the roof using modern ma-
terials. A concrete contra pared, or skirting wall,

was added against the foundation stonework and
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along the lowest courses of adobe on the build-
ing perimeter, and a concrete floor was poured
on the interior. Both interior and exterior walls
were covered with a hard, relatively imperme-
able Portland cement plaster.

Deterioration of Las Flores Adobe and the
Carriage House nevertheless continued as mini-
mal resources were available, and by the 1990s,
the site was closed for safety reasons. Recog-

nizing the value and declining condition of Las



Aerial shot of Las Flores Adobe historic site.

Camp Pendleton Historical Society

Flores Adobe, the Marine Corps registered the
property with the National Trust for Historic
Preservation’s most endangered structures list.

When funds finally became available in
1999, the Marine Corps contracted the National

Park Service to assist with the stabilization and
restoration effort at Las Flores Adobe. Preserva-
tion work included restructuring the floor foun-
dation, removing vegetation, improving drainage
and ventilation, applying protective lime plas-
ter, and restoring the roof. Located in a seismic
zone—ijust several kilometers east of a major
fault running along the coastline of Southern Cal-
ifornia—Las Flores Adobe also underwent seis-
mic stabilization. Whereas previous approaches
to earthquake stabilization had required major
demolition to the historic fabric of the structure,
the team at Las Flores installed minimally inva-
sive systems using rods, steel strapping, grouted
pins, and plywood sheer panels. Recent reno-
vations also restored the lost two-story porch,
which completely surrounds the Monterey sec-
tion, to better protect the adobe walls.
Renovations to the Carriage House im-
plemented in 2004 included the replacement of
an asphalt roof covering with cedar shingles, in-
stallation of a seismic retrofit system, repair of
decayed woodwork, and conservation of earth-
en and lime finishes. This project also entailed
the reinstatement of a connection between the
Hacienda block and Carriage House, which had
to be modified due to the 1974 change in eleva-
tion and pitch of the Carriage House roof. Be-
cause the design could not replicate the original
configuration, the Las Flores Adobe roof extends

to the Carriage House only to the extent re-
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Exterior view of Las Flores Adobe showing how the change of

elevation enacted in 1974 resulted in the modern roof extension
abutting the wall rather than the eaves of the Carriage House.
MCB Camp Pendleton Archives

quired to weather-protect the walkway between
the buildings.

Following the success of this project, the
Marine Corps has maintained its collabora-
tion with staff and graduate students from the
University of Vermont Historic Preservation
Program to continue its preservation and reha-
bilitation efforts at Las Flores Adobe.
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Restoration work on Las Flores Adobe began in 2002 by the Uni-
versity of Vermont with the support of the National Park Ser-
vice and the U.S. Marine Corps. Surviving plaster was cleaned,
and wholesale plaster loss was replaced in kind. New layers of
limewash were applied where needed. The National Park Service
completed structural stabilization of the main house in 2004.
MCB Camp Pendleton Archives



Las Flores Adobe National Historic Landmark as it appears today.
Official National Park Service photo

LAS FLORES ADOBE  eo 83






APPENDIX A
TIMELINE

1769:

1821:

1827:

1838:
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Capt Gaspar de Portola leads an expedi-
tionary force to the location now known
as Camp Pendleton. They baptize the
land “Santa Margarita” in honor of Saint
Margaret of Antioch, the fourth-century
martyr on whose feast day (20 July) the
expedition arrives.

The Mexican War of Independence ends
Spanish rule in the territory of New
Spain, which results in Mexico taking
possession of California.

An inventory by Father Antonio Peyri
notes the existence of adobe structures
at the current site of the Santa Margarita
Ranch House.

Rival politicians Carlos Antonio Carril-
lo and Juan Bautista Alvarado faced off
in the Battle of Las Flores to determine
the governorship of California. Follow-

ing a military standoff at the site of the

1841:

1846:

1848:

1864:

| 85|

Las Flores estancia, the two sides signed
a treaty granting the power of govern-
ment to Alvarado.

Brothers Pio and Andrés Pico receive a
land grant in Alta California for a parcel
now known as Rancho Santa Margarita y
Las Flores from Mexican Governor Juan
Bautista Alvarado.

The United States declares war on Mex-
ico. A detachment of Marines from the
sloop-of-war Cyane make landfall and
raise American and Marine Corps flags
in the Old Town Plaza of San Diego. Lat-
er that year, a joint force of U.S. Army
dragoons, Marines, and sailors challenge
Californio lancers, led by Andrés Pico,
at the Battle of San Pasqual.

The United States acquires California as
part of the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo.
The Pico brothers sell their shares of



1867:

1882:

1888:

1910

1911:

1914

1915:
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Rancho Santa Margarita y Las Flores to
their English brother-in-law, John For-
ster, to pay off their debts.

Marco Forster, the eldest son of John
Forster, constructs Las Flores Adobe as
a residence for his family.

John Forster dies and leaves the Santa
Margarita Ranch House and property to
his heirs, who are forced to sell the land
following a series of droughts and a new
fence law. Wealthy cattleman James C.
Flood and his manager, Richard O’Neill,
acquire the ranch.

The Magee family leases the Las Flores
Adobe complex.

Richard O’Neill dies. His eldest son, Je-
rome, inherits his father’s interest in the
property and takes over his management
duties.

President William H. Taft dispatches the
4th Provisional Marine Regiment to San
Diego in response to the Mexican Rev-
olution. The Marines establish Camp
Thomas on North Island.

Called back to San Diego in response
to continued Mexican political and civil
disorder, Col Joseph H. Pendleton leads
the 4th Marine Regiment to the Gulf of
California as a show of force.

Col Pendleton and Capt Charles H. Ly-
man, commanding officer and adjutant

4th Regiment, oversee an encampment

co APPENDIX A

1916:

1921:

1923:

1924

1926:
1927:

1935:

1941:

of Marines at the Panama-California Ex-
position in San Diego’s Balboa Park.
Overflow of the Santa Margarita River
causes extensive flooding, resulting in a
major repair and renovation project at the
Santa Margarita Ranch House complex
under the stewardship of Jerome O’Neill.
The Marines move to Dutch Flats, site
of the Marine Advanced Base.

The Marine Corps recruit depot for
the western United States is transferred
from the Marine Barracks, Mare Island
Naval Shipyard, California, to the new
post in San Diego.

The recruit depot at San Diego receives
the official designation of Marine Corps
Base, Naval Operating Base, San Diego,
on 1 March 1924.

Jerome O’Neill dies.

Marine Corps units bound for China as-
semble and embark at San Diego in the
largest operation of this kind at Marine
Corps Base (MCB) San Diego prior to
World War 1.

Established in 1933, Headquarters, Fleet
Marine Force, transfers from MCB
Quantico to MCB San Diego.

The 1st Marine Brigade becomes the
Ist Marine Division in February. The
United States declares war on Japan and
Germany in response to the attack on
Pearl Harbor.



1942:

1943:

1944

1946:

1947:

The U.S. Navy acquires Rancho Santa
Margarita y Las Flores from the Flood
and O’Neill families and commissions
architect Myron H. Hunt and his firm
Hunt, Chambers, and Ellingwood to de-
sign several buildings on the new base,
including the administrative building
now used as 1st Marine Division Head-
quarters. At the suggestion of President
Franklin D. Roosevelt, the historic San-
ta Margarita Ranch House is preserved
and used as quarters for distinguished
visitors.

Women Marine Reserves arrive at Camp
Pendleton. The 4th Marine Division is
activated at Camp Pendleton. Sgt Wayne
Richards wins a contest to select an em-
blem for the base; the Marines adopted
the O’Neill cattle brand—a hooked “T”
atop an “O”—as Camp Pendleton’s logo.
Sgt Richards got the idea when he saw
the brand on one of the ranch’s earliest
buildings: the blacksmith shop.

Camp Pendleton is declared a “perma-
nent” installation in October.

Gen Alexander A. Vandegrift, Com-
mandant of the Marine Corps, desig-
nates Camp Pendleton as the center of
all West Coast Marine Corps activities
and home to the 1st Marine Division.
The 1st Marine Division arrives at

Camp Pendleton after combat and oc-

1950:

1953:

1960s:

1964

1966:

1968:

1971:

cupation duty in the Pacific. MajGen
Graves B. Erskine takes up residence at
the Santa Margarita Ranch House, and
his wife Peg commissions a mural of San
Francisco’s Barbary Coast by MSgt Russ
Vickers. A later resident of the house
considers the painting too racy and has
it covered.

The United States enters the Korean War.
Reserve Marines arrive at Camp Pendle-
ton and begin processing and training for
subsequent deployment to Korea.

Camp Pendleton is officially designated
Marine Corps Base Camp Pendleton.
The 1st Division Headquarters build-
ing undergoes extensive modifications
to the porch and other external ele-
ments. The 1st Marine Division deploys
to Southeast Asia for involvement in the
war in Vietnam.

Congress passes a resolution grant-
ing President Lyndon B. Johnson free
hand in Vietnam. At the Santa Margarita
Ranch House, Mrs. ]. C. Munn uncovers
the mural by MSgt Vickers.

The 4th Marine Division Reserves, Fleet
Marine Force, is reactivated at Camp
Pendleton.

Las Flores Adobe is designated a Nation-
al Historic Landmark by the National
Park Service.

The I Marine Amphibious Force (I MAF)
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1975:

1980s:

1988:

1990s:

1991:

1992:

1993:

2000s:

2002:

2003:

88

is relocated to Camp Pendleton. The
Santa Margarita Ranch House is listed
on the National Register of Historic
Places.

Camp Pendleton serves as a staging area
for refugees arriving from South Viet-
nam during Operation New Arrivals.
The 1st Division Headquarters building
undergoes major renovations that alter
its interior and exterior appearance.

I MAF is redesignated as I Marine Expe-
ditionary Force (I MEF).

Marines from I MEF deploy to Saudi
Arabia in support of Operations Desert
Shield and Desert Storm.

The 1st Marine Division assists in relief
efforts in Bangladesh and the Philippines.
I MEF participates in Operation Restore
Hope.

Overflow of the Santa Margarita Riv-
er causes significant flooding at Camp
Pendleton, resulting in serious damage
to the Santa Margarita Ranch House,
chapel, and numerous other structures
on base.

Las Flores Adobe undergoes an exten-
sive renovation and stabilization project.
I MEF units deploy to Kuwait in support
of Operation Iraqi Freedom (OIF).

The 1st Marine Division deploys by air
and sea to link up with its advanced

headquarters in Kuwait under I MEF in
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2004

2005:

2006:

2007:

2010:

2012:

support of OIF. The 1st Marine Division
conducts the longest ground march in
Marine Corps history, attacking Bagh-
dad alongside the U.S. Army.

The 1st Marine Division relieves the
Army’s 82d Airborne Division in Iraq’s
Sunni Triangle. During OIF II, 1st Mar-
Div conducts counterinsurgency opera-
tions throughout al-Anbar Province.
Marine Corps Installations-West (MCI-
WEST) is reactivated at Camp Pendle-
ton.

The 1st Marine Division deploys to Iraq
as the ground combat element for I
MEE

MajGen Michael R. Lehnert becomes
the last Marine general officer to occupy
the Santa Margarita Ranch House.
Personnel and units of the 1st Marine
Division deploy to Afghanistan to pro-
vide advisory support and maneuver
elements in support of Operation En-
during Freedom.

The 1st Marine Division deploys to Af-
ghanistan to serve as the headquarters
for Task Force Leatherneck, the ground
combat element for Regional Command-
Southwest. MCIWEST merges with
MCB Camp Pendleton to form Marine
Corps Installations West-Marine Corps
Base Camp Pendleton.



APPENDIX B

U.S. MARINE CORPS GENERAL RESIDENTS,
SANTA MARGARITA RANCH HOUSE, 1947-2007

July 1947—July 1950

July 1950—July 1951

July 1951-May 1953
May—August 1953

November 1953—April 1955
April 1955—July 1957

July 1957—July 1959
November 1959—March 1961
June 1962—April 1963

May 1963—June 1964

July 1964—April 1967

March 1967—June 1968

July 1968 —August 1970
August 1970—December 1971
January 1972—November 1973
November 1973—August 1974
August 1974—April 1975

June 1975—June 1978

€9)

MajGen Graves B. Erskine
MajGen Alfred H. Noble
MajGen Oliver P. Smith
MajGen Robert H. Pepper
MajGen JohnT. Selden
MajGen George F. Good Jr.
MajGen Reginald H. Ridgely
MajGen Alan Shapley”

MajGen James M. Masters Sr.
MajGen John C. Munn
MajGen Robert E. Cushman Jr.
MajGen Lewis J. Fields
MajGen Donn J. Robertson
MajGen George S. Bowman Jr.
MajGen Herman Poggemeyer Jr.
MajGen Robert L. Nichols
BGen Paul G. Graham

MajGen Carl W. Hoffman

“ BGen Raymond L. Murray served as base commanding general from March 1961 to June 1962; however, he never resided in the

Ranch House as a result of orders from then-Commandant Gen David M. Shoup, who instructed Murray to await a new assignment.
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July 1978—]June 1980

June 1980—August 1980
August 1980—August 1983
August 1983—July 1984

July 1984—June 1987

July 1987—April 1988

June 1988—June 1990

August 1990—September 1991
September 1991—June 1993
July 1993—May 1994

June 1994—April 1996
September 1996—August 1998
August 1998 —July 2000

July 2000—November 2002
November 2002—September 2004
October 2004 —August 2006
August 2006 —September 2007
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MajGen Stephen G. Olmstead

MajGen HughVV. Hardy (shortest stay at 52 days)

MajGen Kenneth L. Robinson
MajGen Anthony Lukeman
MajGen Robert E. Haebel
BGen Matthew T. Cooper
BGen Richard H. Huckaby
LtGen Walter E. Boomer
LtGen Robert B. Johnston
LtGen George R. Christmas
LtGen Anthony C. Zinni
MajGen Claude W. Reinke
LtGen Bruce B. Knutson |r.
LtGen Michael W. Hagee
LtGen JamesT. Conway
LtGen John F. Sattler
MajGen Michael R. Lehnert



APPENDIX C
COMMANDERS OF MARINE CORPS ACTIVITIES,
SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA, 1914-42
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MARINE BARRACKS, U.S. NAVAL STATION,
SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA, 1914-24

December 1914—]June 1915 Maj William N. McKelvey
July 1915—January 1916 Capt Ellis B. Miller
January—February 1916 Maj William N. McKelvey
February—June 1916 Col Joseph H. Pendleton
June—September 1916 IstLt Seldon B. Kennedy”
September—December 1916 IstLt Earl C. Long®
December 1916—January 1917 Capt Thomas C. Turner
January 1917 IstLt Earl C. Long
January—October 1917 Maj Thomas C. Turner”
October 1917—October 1918 LtCol Carl Gamborg-Andresen
October 1918—April 1919 Maj David M. Randall
April 1919—July 1921 Col John F. McGill
July—October 1921 None designated

October 1921—January 1922 LtCol James McE. Huey
January—March 1922 Maj Eugene P. Fortson
March 1922—February 1924 LtCol Giles Bishop, Jr.

" Individuals marked with an asterisk received a promotion during their tenure as commander.
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MARINE CORPS BASE SAN DIEGO,
CALIFORNIA, 1924-42

March 1924

April-May 1924

May—June 1924

June 1924—April 1925
April-May 1925

May—October 1925

November 1925—February 1926
February—March 1926
March—May 1926

May 1926—March 1927

March 1927

April-August 1927

August 1927—June 1928
June—July 1928

July 1928—April 1929

April 1929—January 1930
January—December 1930
December 1930—November 1931
November—December 1931
December 1931—January 1932
January—February 1932
February 1932—December 1933
December 1933—January 1934
January—March 1934
March—June 1934

June 1934—April 1935

May 1935

May 1935—]January 1937
January—February 1937
February—May 1937
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MajGen Joseph H. Pendleton
Col James McE. Huey
MajGen Joseph H. Pendleton
Col JohnT. Myers

LtCol William H. Pritchett
Col JohnT. Myers

Col Alexander S. Williams
BGen Smedley D. Butler
LtCol William H. Pritchett
BGen Smedley D. Butler
Maj Benjamin A. Moeller
LtCol William H. Pritchett
Col Charles H. Lyman

Maj Benjamin A. Moeller
BGen Dion Williams

Col Harry R. Lay

BGen Robert H. Dunlap
BGen John H. Russell

Col Charles H. Lyman
BGen Frederick L. Bradman
Col Harry R. Lay

BGen Frederick L. Bradman
Col Rush R. Wallace

BGen Frederick L. Bradman
Col Rush R. Wallace

BGen Frederick L. Bradman
Col Rush R. Wallace

BGen Douglas C. McDougal
Col Alley D. Rorex

BGen Douglas C. McDougal



May 1937—March 1938
March—April 1938

April 1938—August 1939

August 1939

September 1939

September 1939—December 1941
December 1941-March 1942
March—April 1942

April-August 1942

MajGen Louis Mac. Little
LtCol Harry L. Smith
MajGen Louis Mac. Little
BGen Clayton B. Vogel
BGen Richard P. Williams
BGen William P. Upshur
Col William H. Rupertus
Col Matthew H. Kingman
Col James L. Underhill

COMMANDERS, SAN DIEGO
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APPENDIX D

BASE COMMANDING GENERALS,
CAMP PENDLETON, 1942-PRESENT
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MARINE CORPS BASE CAMP PENDLETON

August 1942—-May 1944
June 1944 —July 1945

July 1945-May 1946

May 1946—June 1947
June—July 1947

July 1947—July 1950

]uly 1950—]June 1951

June 1951-May 1953
May—August 1953
August—October 1953
October—November 1953
November 1953—April 1955
April 1955—July 1957

July 1957—October 1959
November 1959—March 1961
March 1961—June 1962
June 1962—April 1963

COMMANDING GENERALS

MajGen Joseph C. Fegan
MajGen Charles F. B. Price
LtGen Holland M. Smith
LtGen Harry Schmidt

BGen John T. Walker

MajGen Graves B. Erskine
MajGen Alfred H. Noble
MajGen Oliver P. Smith
MajGen Robert H. Pepper
BGen William ]. Scheyer
MajGen James P. Riseley
MajGen John'T. Seldon
MajGen George F. Good Jr.
MajGen Reginald H. Ridgely Jr.
MajGen Alan Shapley

BGen Raymond L. Murray
MajGen James M. Masters Sr.
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May 1963 —June 1964

July 1964—March 1967
March 1967—June 1968
June—July 1968

July 1968—August 1970
August 1970—December 1971
December 1971-November 1973
November 1973—August 1974
May—June 1974

August 1974 —June 1975
June 1975—June 1978

July 1978—June 1980
June—August 1980

August 1980—August 1983
August 1983—July 1984
July 1984 —June 1987

June 1987—April 1988
April—June 1988

June 1988—June 1990
June—August 1990
August—September 1990
September 1990—]June 1991
June—September 1991
September 1991—June 1992
June 1992—May 1994

May 1994 —August 1998
August 1998 —June 2001
June 2001—June 2002

June 2002—]July 2004

July 2004—April 2005
April-October 2005

MajGen John C. Munn
MajGen Robert E. Cushman Jr.
MajGen Lewis ]. Fields
MajGen Wood B. Kyle
MajGen Donn ]. Robertson
MajGen George S. Bowman Jr.
MajGen Herman Poggemeyer Jr.
MajGen Robert L. Nichols
BGen Leonard E. Fribourg
BGen Paul G. Graham
MajGen Carl W. Hoffman
MajGen Stephen G. Olmstead
MajGen Hugh W. Hardy
MajGen Kenneth L. Robinson
MajGen Anthony Lukeman
MajGen Robert E. Haebel
MajGen Matthew T. Cooper
MajGen James ]. McMonagle
BGen Richard H. Huckaby
MajGen John P. Monahan
LtGen Walter E. Boomer
BGen Michael I. Neil

LtGen Walter E. Boomer
LtGen Robert B. Johnston
MajGen B. Don Lynch
MajGen Claude W. Reinke
MajGen Edward Hanlon Jr.
MajGen David F. Bice
MajGen William G. Bowdon
MajGen Timothy E. Donovan
MajGen Michael R. Lehnert
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October 2005—May 2006 Col John C. Coleman
May 2006—June 2009 Col James B. Seaton III
June 2009—March 2012 Col Nicholas F. Marano

MARINE CORPS INSTALLATIONS WEST (MCIWEST)"
COMMANDING GENERALS

October 2005—September 2009 MGen Michael R. Lehnert
September 2009—November 2011 MajGen Anthony L. Jackson
November 2011—April 2012 BGen Vincent A. Coglianese

MCIWEST-MARINE CORPS BASE CAMP PENDLETON
COMMANDING GENERALS

April 2012—August 2013 BGen Vincent A. Coglianese
August 2013—August 2014 BGen John W. Bullard
August 2014—July 2016 BGen Edward G. Banta
July 2016—present BGen Kevin J. Killea

* MCIWEST was reactivated in 2005 and then MCIWEST and MCB Camp Pendleton were merged in 2012.
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APPENDIX E

BASE SERGEANTS MAJOR,
CAMP PENDLETON, 1956-PRESENT
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MARINE CORPS BASE CAMP PENDLETON

November 1956—February 1960
March—December 1960

January 1961—September 1962
October 1962—October 1966
October 1966—May 1968
May—October 1968

October 1968—April 1970

May 1970—February 1972
March—August 1972

August 1972—September 1975
October 1975—October 1978
November 1978 -March 1980
March—September 1980
September 1980—September 1982
October 1982—November 1983
November 1983 —January 1984
February 1984 —July 1985

July 1985—July 1986

SERGEANTS MAJOR

SgtMaj Edwin L. Schwaner
SgtMaj Milburn N. Zell
SgtMaj Otis B. Joyner

SgtMaj William ]. Scheffer
SgtMaj Edgar R. Huff

SgtMaj Warren W. McElliot
SgtMaj George E. Parker
SgtMaj Homer L. Akin Jr.
SgtMaj Mike D. Mervosh
SgtMaj Henry M. Kajdacz
SgtMaj Daniel A. Misernay Sr.
SgtMaj L. C. Johnson

SgtMaj Eleanor L. Judge
SgtMaj Donald L. Dolan
SgtMaj Lawrence C. Lookenbill
SgtMaj Dearl R. Fraze

SgtMaj Joe R. Rodriguez
SgtMaj Raymond T. Fitzhugh
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July 1986—March 1987

March 1987—April 1990

May 1990—September 1991
September 1991-November 1992
November 1992—June 1994

June 1994 —September 1995
September 1995—November 1997
November 1997-December 1998
December 1998—June 2000

June 2000—August 2002

August 2002—April 2004

April 2004 —February 2006
February—November 2006
November 2006—]January 2007
January—May 2007

May 2007—March 2009

March 2009—Apri1 2012

SgtMaj Lee M. Bradley
SgtMaj Michael J. Baumhover
SgtMaj Harold A. Robinson
SgtMaj James I. L. Celestine
SgtMaj Mikel R. Beal

SgtMaj Chris A. Crawford
SgtMaj Richard W, Smith
SgtMaj Carlos R. Ramirez
SgtMaj Richard E. Jones
SgtMaj Michael G. Markiewicz
SgtMaj Jerome B. Price
SgtMaj Juan F. Sandoval Jr.
SgtMaj Javier A. Nicholas
SgtMaj Wayne R. Bell

SgtMaj Kenneth W. Jones
SgtMaj Jeffrey H. Dixon
SgtMaj Ramona D. Cook

MARINE CORPS INSTALLATIONS WEST (MCIWEST)
SERGEANTS MAJOR

SgtMaj Wayne R. Bell

SgtMaj Barbara J. Titus-Tention

SgtMaj Jeffrey H. Dixon

SgtMaj Derrick Christovale Sr.

February 2006—January 2007
January 2007—April 2009
April 2009—]June 2011

June 2011—April 2012

MCIWEST-MARINE CORPS BASE CAMP PENDLETON
SERGEANTS MAJOR

SgtMaj Derrick Christovale Sr.

SgtMaj Scott R. Helms

SgtMaj Julio E. Meza

April 2012—June 2013
June 2013—May 2016
May 2016—present
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APPENDIX F

COMMANDING GENERALS
OF IST MARINE DIVISION,
CAMP PENDLETON, 1941-PRESENT

February 1941—June 1941
June 1941—March 1942
March 1942—July 1943

July 1943—November 1944
November 1944—August 1945
August 1945—June 1946
June—September 1946
September 1946—June 1947
June—July 1947

July 1947—July 1950

July 1950—February 1951
February—March 1951
March—April 1951

April 1951—January 1952
January—August 1952
August 1952—June 1953
June 1953—May 1954
May—July 1954

€9)

MajGen Holland M. Smith
MajGen Philip H. Torrey
MajGen Alexander A. Vandegrift
MajGen William H. Rupertus
MajGen Pedro A. del Valle
MajGen DeWitt Peck
MajGen Keller E. Rockey
MajGen Samuel L. Howard
Col Alva B. Lasswell (Acting)
MajGen Graves B. Erskine
MajGen Oliver P. Smith

BGen Lewis B. Puller (Acting)
MajGen Oliver P. Smith
MajGen Gerald C. Thomas
MajGen JohnT. Selden
MajGen Edwin A. Pollock
MajGen Randolph McC. Pate
MajGen Robert H. Pepper
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July 1954 —January 1955
January 1955—August 1956
August 1956—June 1957
July 1957—January 1958
January—February 1958
February 1958—October 1959
October—November 1959
November 1959—]une 1961
June—July 1961

July 1961—June 1962

June 1962—April 1963

April 1963—July 1965
July—August 1965

August 1965—September 1966
October 1966—May 1967
June 1967—June 1968
June—December 1968
December 1968—December 1969
December 1969—April 1970
April 1970—April 1971
April 1971—August 1972
August 1972—April 1973
May 1973—August 1974
August 1974 —June 1975
June 1975—July 1976

July 1976—July 1977
July—August 1977

August 1977—-August 1979
August 1979—July 1980
August 1980—August 1982
August 1982—June 1985
July 1985—July 1988
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MajGen Robert E. Hogaboom
MajGen Merrill B. Twining
MajGen Robert O. Bare
MajGen David M. Shoup
BGen Harvey C. Tschirgi
MajGen Edward W. Snedeker
BGen Thomas F. Riley
MajGen Henry R. Paige
BGen Frederick E. Leek
MajGen James M. Masters Sr.
MajGen Herman Nickerson ]Jr.
MajGen William T. Fairbourn
BGen Edward H. Hurst
MajGen Lewis ]. Fields
MajGen Herman Nickerson ]Jr.
MajGen Donn ]. Robertson
MajGen Carl A.Youngdale
MajGen Ormond R. Simpson
MajGen Edwin B. Wheeler
MajGen Charles F. Widdecke
MajGen Ross T. Dwyer Jr.
BGen Adolph G. Schwenk
MajGen Kenneth J. Houghton
BGen William L. McCulloch
MajGen Charles D. Mize
MajGen Edward A. Wilcox
BGen Marc A. Moore
MajGen Charles G. Cooper
MajGen Francis X. Quinn
MajGen James L. Day
MajGen Ernest C. Cheatham
MajGen James ]. McMonagle



July 1988—August 1990
August 1990—]uly 1992
July 1992—June 1994

June 1994 —June 1996
June 1996 —]July 1998

July 1998—May 1999

May 1999 —]July 2000

July 2000—August 2002
August 2002—August 2004
August 2004 —August 2006
August 2006 —May 2007
May—September 2007
September 2007—July 2009
July 2009—August 2010
August 2010—June 2011
June 2011—June 2013

June 2013—July 2015
July—September 2015
September 2015—June 2017
June 2017—present

MajGen John P. Monahan
MajGen James M. Myatt
MajGen Charles E. Wilhelm
MajGen Frank Libutti

MajGen John H. Admire
MajGen Michael W. Hagee
MajGen Gregory S. Newbold
MajGen JamesT. Conway
MajGen James N. Mattis
MajGen Richard F. Natonski
MajGen John M. Paxton Jr.
BGen Richard P. Mills

MajGen Thomas D. Waldhauser
MajGen Richard P. Mills
MajGen Michael R. Regner
MajGen Ronald L. Bailey
MajGen Lawrence D. Nicholson
BGen Daniel D. Yoo

MajGen Daniel ]J. O’Donohue
BGen Eric M. Smith
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ISBN 978—0—9973174—6—690000
MARINE CORPS HISTORY DIVISION
2044 Broadway Street
Quantico, VA 22134
/ 9780997317466

www.usmcu.edu/historydivision



	Covers_web
	CampPendleton_web

